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(1)

BETTING ON TRANSPARENCY: TOWARD FAIR-
NESS AND INTEGRITY IN THE INTERIOR
DEPARTMENT’S TRIBAL RECOGNITION
PROCESS

WEDNESDAY, MAY 5, 2004

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM,

Washington, DC.
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:04 a.m., in room

2154, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Tom Davis of Virginia
(chairman of the committee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Tom Davis of Virginia, Shays, Ose,
Duncan, Maloney, Cummings, Kucinich, Watson, and Norton.

Also present: Representatives Johnson of Connecticut, Simmons,
and Wolf.

Staff present: David Marin, deputy staff director/director of com-
munications; Keith Ausbrook, chief counsel; John Hunter, counsel;
Robert Borden, counsel/parliamentarian; Drew Crockett, deputy di-
rector of communications; Teresa Austin, chief clerk; Brien Beattie,
deputy clerk; Shalley Kim, professional staff member; Robert
White, press secretary; Michael Yeager, minority deputy chief coun-
sel; Earley Green, minority chief clerk; and Jean Gosa, minority as-
sistant clerk.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Good morning. The quorum will come to
order, and I want to welcome everybody to today’s hearing on the
process for recognition by the Federal Government of American In-
dian tribes as sovereign Indian nations. The committee will focus
on the integrity, transparency, and accountability of tribal recogni-
tion decisions made by the Interior Department’s Bureau of Indian
Affairs.

Federal recognition of a particular Indian tribe can have a pro-
found effect on the tribe, the surrounding communities, the State,
and the Federal Government. For example, recognition is a pre-
requisite for a tribe to receive Federal assistance and obtain other
rights. Recognized tribes receive exclusive Federal funding for
health, education, and other social programs. Also, tribal lands are
eligible to be taken into trust for a tribe or its members by the Fed-
eral Government. Today, over 45 million acres nationwide are held
in trust, basically creating a nation within a nation.

This is particularly critical because tribal lands held in trust are
exempt from most State and local laws, such as sales tax and gam-
bling regulations. A tribe must meet additional requirements be-
fore it can exercise other rights. For instance, before a recognized

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00005 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



2

tribe can operate a casino on tribal land held in trust, the tribe
must comply with the requirements set forth in the Indian Gaming
Regulatory Act of 1988.

Today, the Secretary of the Interior has authority to recognize
American Indian tribes under regulations administered by the BIA.
Congress may also recognize a tribe through legislation. Congress
terminated recognition by treaty in 1871.

Until 1978, the Interior Department made tribal recognition deci-
sions on a case-by-case basis. Then, Interior established a formal
regulatory process for recognizing tribes and adopted seven criteria
that a petitioning tribe must meet to receive Federal recognition.
Before Interior implemented the current recognition regulations in
1978, BIA received 40 petitions from groups seeking formal tribal
recognition. Since 1978, BIA has received an additional 254 peti-
tions. As of February 2004, a total of 57 petitions have been re-
solved, 13 petitions are ready for dispensation, 9 petitions are in
active status, 2 are in post-final decision appeals, 1 is in litigation,
and 213 are not ready yet for evaluation.

The Connecticut congressional delegation recently brought to my
attention two BIA recognition petitions filed by Connecticut tribes
and asked the committee to hold a hearing to explore questions
about the objectivity and transparency of the BIA recognition proc-
ess in connection with the decisions to recognize the Historical
Eastern Pequot and the Schaghticoke tribes.

I readily agreed to hold this hearing because I think it is impera-
tive that the integrity of the BIA process be preserved. Interested
parties and the public have a right to be assured that a critical pro-
cedure such as this one administered by an agency of the Federal
Government is completely fair, unbiased, transparent and in ac-
cordance with the law. That mission fits squarely within the juris-
diction of this committee.

Both the Schaghticoke and the Historical Eastern Pequot deci-
sions are being challenged on various grounds by the Connecticut
attorney general, municipalities subject to Indian land claims, and
other interested parties. In both cases, final recognition was grant-
ed by the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs despite proposed
findings by BIA that the tribes did not meet one or more of the
seven mandatory criteria for status as a sovereign Indian nation.

Our goal today is to look at these decisions as a case study of
the overall recognition process. Are these cases unique, or are they
symptomatic of a larger problem that calls into question the integ-
rity and fairness of the process? Do these cases demonstrate that
the ground rules underlying the process are ever changing?

The committee will hear from witnesses who can help us evalu-
ate the fairness and efficiency of the BIA recognition process, both
generally and in the context of the two Connecticut tribal recogni-
tion decisions. We will hear from the Office of the Assistant Sec-
retary for Indian Affairs of the Department of the Interior about
the recognition process, as well as from the Interior inspector gen-
eral. The committee will also hear from the Connecticut attorney
general, several Connecticut municipalities affected by the deci-
sions, and the Historic Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation. We invited
the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation to testify, but they declined the
committee’s invitation. Other witnesses will discuss their assess-
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ment of and recommendations to improve the BIA recognition proc-
ess.

I want to thank all of our witnesses for appearing before the
committee, and I look forward to your testimony.

I also would ask unanimous consent that Nancy Johnson and
Rob Simmons from Connecticut, and Frank Wolf from Virginia be
allowed to join today’s hearing. Without objection, so ordered. And
I welcome them to the committee this morning and invite them to
participate in today’s hearing.

I now yield to the vice chairman of the committee, Mr. Shays, for
an opening statement.

[The prepared statement of Chairman Tom Davis follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. And thank you, Chairman Davis, on be-
half of the Connecticut delegation, for agreeing to hold this hear-
ing.

While the need to reform American Indian tribal recognition pro-
cedures at the Department of the Interior is acutely felt in our
State today, the flawed system has a truly national impact, affect-
ing the sovereignty, social policy, and fiscal health of every State.

What was once a purely historical, anthropological, and genea-
logical inquiry has been transformed by the lure of casino revenues
into a high-stakes, winner-take-all political campaign to possess a
Federal gaming franchise. An academic investigation designed to
acknowledge cultural continuity and restore political sovereignty is
being overwhelmed and too often overturned by the intense pres-
sures and voluminous submissions of tribal petitioners and their
wealthy backers.

Two years ago, this committee’s Regulatory Affairs Subcommittee
examined tribal recognition standards and procedures. At that
time, the General Accounting Office [GAO] found serious weak-
nesses in the process, including a lack of clear guidance on critical
aspects of the mandatory recognition criteria. Even on the quality
and quantity of evidence needed to demonstrate continuous exist-
ence, the criteria at the heart of tribal sovereignty, GAO found a
lack of consistency and clarity.

About the same time, the Interior Department inspector general
discovered inconsistencies and a determination by decisionmakers
to recognize certain petitioners despite expert conclusions they did
not meet mandatory criteria.

Today we know the procedural irregularities and murky stand-
ards that the Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] survive from adminis-
tration to administration, Republican and Democrat, as the potent
power of undisclosed gaming investors drives the process to a pre-
determined outcome.

Just how far the BIA had strayed from legal and factual reality
was made starkly obvious last January. In an internal briefing on
recognition of the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation of Connecticut, the
staff offered guidance on how to recognize the tribe ‘‘even though
evidence of political influence and authority is absent or insuffi-
cient for two substantial historical periods of time.’’ The options
presented: recognize the tribe anyway by using State law recogni-
tion as an unprecedented surrogate for required evidence, or de-
cline to recognize based on the regulations and BIA precedent, or
acknowledge the Schaghticokes outside of the regulations.

That the BIA even considered the first or third option is a scan-
dal. That they chose the first proves the process is irreparably
skewed, adrift in a sea of guilt, paternalism, and greed. Substitut-
ing indirect evidence, such as State recognition, for one or more of
the mandatory criteria means the process is utterly without objec-
tive standards. Arbitrary, outcome-driven sophistry injected into
final decisions puts BIA procedures beyond the view of interested
parties and communities whose rights hinge on the opportunity to
participate meaningfully in a transparent, fair process.

Any lack of transparency denies the public the fundamental right
to know with whom their government is really doing business. As
we will hear in testimony today, casino backers have spent many
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millions of dollars on experts and lobbyists to gain Federal recogni-
tion and the substantial rights and privileges that come with it,
but neither the BIA nor the Indian Gaming Regulatory Commis-
sion has any power to compel disclosure of the real parties at inter-
est before them until it is too late to detect improper or corrupting
influences.

We look forward to our witnesses’ recommendations on how to
ensure the integrity, objectivity, transparency, and timeliness of
the tribal recognition process. They are here today because they be-
lieve in the value of open discussion and honest dialog, and we ap-
preciate their being here. For reasons of their own, some other in-
vited witnesses declined our invitation to testify.

I ask unanimous consent to insert into the record letters from
Mr. Thomas C. Wilmot, Sr., who is reported to have spent $10 mil-
lion supporting a tribal recognition application; Attorney Robert
Reardon, Jr., representing Mr. Donald Trump in litigation to re-
cover more than $9 million from a tribe and its new backers; and
Chief Richard Velky of the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation, who ini-
tially agreed to attend but withdrew only late yesterday.

If the committee concludes these individuals have information es-
sential to oversight, I know they will be invited or, if necessary,
compelled to provide that evidence in the future.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate this hearing.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Christopher Shays follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, thank you very much. That is the
correct statement, and I agree with it. Thank you very much, Mr.
Shays.

Ms. Watson, any opening statement?
All right, Mr. Simmons.
Mr. SIMMONS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and in particular for

the courtesy of including me. And on the basis of that courtesy, I
will ask that my full statement be entered into the record, and I
will make a brief summary, if that is OK.

First of all, I notice on the panel and in the audience friends and
constituents from Connecticut, Attorney General Richard
Blumenthal, who has been working these issues for many years. I
first started working with Dick on these issues when I was a State
representative, and it is good to see you here today. We look for-
ward to your testimony.

I also see Nick Mullane, first selectman from the town of North
Stonington, who is my constituent as a State representative and as
a Member of Congress, and as somebody who has been very in-
volved in the impacts of Indian casinos on our small municipalities.

Mark Boughton, who is the mayor of Danbury. We served to-
gether in the legislature. I see Marcia Flowers, who is a friend and
a constituent, who will be part of, I think, the second or the third
panel. And I also see Jeff Benedict, who is a constituent and a
friend, and who wrote a book called ‘‘Without Reservation,’’ which
is a very complete summary of these issues.

Among these friends and neighbors there will be disagreement,
but I think we all agree that the issue is very significant and has
great impact on the State of Connecticut. The advent of Indian ca-
sinos to Connecticut comes as a mixed blessing. We have two of the
largest casinos in the world in my district. Two of the largest casi-
nos in the world. And they bring revenue to the State, they provide
jobs, especially at a time when defense contracting and other types
of manufacturing are in decline. And members of tribes have been
personally generous in the community and in the State, and we
welcome that.

At the same time, there is considerable negative impact. Local
municipalities have no taxing authority, they have no zoning au-
thority. State and town roads which are used to provide transpor-
tation to these facilities are maintained at the cost of the local mu-
nicipalities. Emergency services, in many cases provided by volun-
teers, are overwhelmed and in some cases have closed. So these are
very real municipal impacts that we face.

And the process itself, I believe, is corrupt and unfair: corrupt in
the sense of broken; unfair in the sense that it does not deliver a
fair product either to the petitioners or to those who have to deal
with the impacts of the petitions. And I think probably the reason
for that is because the promise of money that comes with a Federal
recognition and a casino is what has distorted the process.

As a member of the Connecticut delegation, I met recently with
the Secretary of Interior and reiterated again to her my concern
that the seven mandatory regulatory criteria for recognition be
placed in statute, something that the delegation has been trying to
do for several years. Her response to us at the time was ‘‘she had
no immediate objection to it.’’ No immediate objection to it.
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I also expressed my concern about the revolving door, which
means officials of the Bureau of Indian Affairs can make decisions
that affect tribes, petitioning tribes, and then leave the Bureau of
Indian Affairs and, with no cooling off period, go to work to rep-
resent or be employed by some of those very same people who are
affected by those decisions.

Both of those recommendations have been placed in a piece of
legislation that I introduced with the full delegation a few weeks
ago. We want more control over the process. We want more trans-
parency in the process. And we want relief provided to our local-
ities for what can be a very expensive battle on a very uneven play-
ing field.

And for those members who are not familiar with the political or-
ganization of Connecticut, we do not have county government in
Connecticut. We have 169 small towns, and then we have the
State, and those small towns are not equipped and are not
resourced to deal with the lengthy legal battles that often occur
when the petitioning groups have multimillionaires supporting
them and the towns simply have the working citizens and a small
tax base.

It is time for Congress to step in and solve this problem by re-
forming the system by statute and closing the revolving door.

And with that, Mr. Chairman, I thank you again and look for-
ward to hearing from the witnesses. I will conclude by saying that
I do have a bill on the floor today, probably around 11, the Alter-
native Minimum Tax. So I apologize if I have to leave in the middle
of the testimony.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Rob Simmons follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. It is an important bill, we understand,
and thank you again for helping call this issue to the committee’s
attention.

Any other members wish to make opening statements?
Mr. CUMMINGS. Just a very brief statement, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Yes, Mr. Cummings.
Mr. CUMMINGS. Mr. Chairman, I want to also thank you for hold-

ing this hearing to assess the legal sufficiency and procedural fair-
ness of the American Indian tribal recognition process adminis-
tered by the Interior Department’s Bureau of Indian Affairs. Recog-
nized tribes receive exclusive Federal Government funding for
health, education, and other social programs. As such, tribal lands
are eligible to be taken into trust by the Federal Government. The
integrity of the BIA process is very important.

Recently, the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs acted on ac-
knowledgment petitions filed by two Connecticut tribes, the East-
ern Pequot and the Schaghticoke tribes. These actions raise ques-
tions about the tribal recognition process, since, under BIA find-
ings, these tribes did not meet any of the mandatory criteria for
status as a sovereign Indian nation. The Assistant Secretary of In-
dian Affairs granted final recognition to the tribes.

Federal recognition of an Indian tribe acknowledges that the
tribe is a sovereign entity which establishes a government-to-gov-
ernment with the United States and makes the tribe eligible for
Federal programs through the Interior Department’s Bureau of In-
dian Affairs and the Indian Health Service. More importantly, it al-
lows gaming on Indian lands under the Indian Gaming Regulatory
Act.

Mr. Speaker, the potential for profit through gaming is extremely
high. In fact, Indian gaming is a $15 billion a year business, and,
as such, many existing Indian tribes, as well as would-be tribes,
are spending millions of dollars on political campaigns, lobbying,
and State ballot initiatives to preserve the tax-free status of casi-
nos, expand gaming operations, and protect their sovereign immu-
nity. Two-thirds of the groups currently awaiting determinations
on their applications are reportedly financed by outside casino in-
vestors.

In order to maintain the accuracy and legitimacy of the tribal
recognition process, there must be a clear basis for determining
tribal status. The potential for exploitation of the BIA process or
tribal communities that might be linked to the gaming industry
must be avoided.

And with that, Mr. Speaker, I look forward to hearing from all
of our witnesses today, and, Mr. Chairman, I yield back.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
We have a distinguished panel today.
Mr. OSE. Mr. Chairman?
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. Ose, you want to make a statement?
Mr. OSE. Yes, please.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. The gentleman is recognized.
Mr. OSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, let me thank

you for calling this hearing. We have been struggling with this
issue of tribal recognition for many decades. It has been brought
to my attention in previous Congresses by Mr. Shays. We had a
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number of hearings on that. We are faced with a diverse array of
existing tribes numbering over 550, I believe, already federally rec-
ognized tribes, and the task of acknowledging a new group as a
sovereign entity remains one of our most difficult and complicated
tasks.

As you heard from the other Members here, the recognition of a
tribe has a significant effect not only the tribe, but on the sur-
rounding communities. In my district, we have had some very suc-
cessful recognitions in which the tribes have gone on to significant
progress. We have also had some difficulty in terms of tribes or
groups of folks who have filed for recognition who have been unsuc-
cessful in getting that.

We have a process in place that has seven tests for identifying
groups who would otherwise quality as tribes. It is not an easy test
or an easy series of tests to accomplish. I do think it is important
that we review that periodically. I am hopeful that this hearing
will eventually lead to that.

In California, one of the overwhelming aspects that is on the
table, so to speak, from tribal recognition is the issue of gaming
and how many tribes wish to use that as the economic vehicle for
progress. It has had remarkably positive effects for many tribes.
There are many communities in which the tribes are located which
might otherwise suggest that the ancillary impacts of that gaming
have not been all that positive.

In that context, Mr. Chairman, I am pleased that you called this
hearing to examine this issue, and look forward to the testimony
of the witnesses.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Doug Ose follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
We are now ready for our first panel. We are very pleased to

have a very distinguished panel. We start with the Honorable Rich-
ard Blumenthal, who is the attorney general of the State of Con-
necticut; the Honorable Theresa Rosier, who is the Counselor to the
Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs at the Department of the In-
terior. I understand you are accompanied by Lee Fleming, so we
will swear Lee in, who is the Director of the Office of Federal Ac-
knowledgment, Bureau of Indian Affairs; and the Honorable Earl
E. Devaney, the inspector general for the Department of the Inte-
rior.

Thank you all for being here. It is the policy of this committee
that we swear all witnesses, so if you would rise with me and raise
your right hands.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
We have lights in front. Your total statements are in the record.

After 4 minutes the light will turn from green to orange; in 5 min-
utes it will turn red. If you could try to move to summary as soon
as it turns red, we can move ahead to questions.

Before we start, Mr. Shays?
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I should have mentioned

this in my opening statement, and I appreciate your indulgence. I
just, first, wanted to welcome the attorney general. I served with
him in the State House and while he was in the Senate, and he
has truly been a leader in this effort and just has been both very
strong, but very bipartisan and, frankly, nonpartisan on this issue.
He has confronted the previous administration in a very real way,
and so I just have immense respect for him. And I do want to
thank the Department of the Interior and welcome our witness
there and acknowledge, as well, the good work of the Inspector
General’s Office.

I also want to say to our second panelists, that I have tremen-
dous respect for Marcia Flowers, the chairwoman, and want her to
know, as she hears these strong statements, that we understand
your role and will be very respectful of that.

And also Mark Sebastian, welcome. You have a wonderful rep-
utation. You are both wonderful people, terrific people, and we
thank you for coming to testify.

And let me just conclude by saying that we will have three may-
ors, really, a mayor and two first selectmen. They are all distin-
guished leaders in their community, and particularly those nearest
my community, Mr. Boughton, the mayor, as well as First Select-
man Marconi. They have bipartisan support, overwhelming support
in their communities because they have done wonderful jobs, and
it is very important that they participate, and I thank them.

And just end by saying that Jeffrey Benedict has been extraor-
dinarily informed and has been leading this effort. We will learn
a lot from him.

So we have a wonderful three panels, and thank you for giving
me the opportunity just to express my appreciation to all of them.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you. And before I start, Mr. Wolf
just came in. He has been a leader in terms of the gaming issue
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in the Congress. I just want to allow him to make a statement, and
then, General Blumenthal, we will move to you.

Mr. WOLF. Thank you, Chairman Davis. I spent some time last
night putting this together, and I appreciate your giving me this
opportunity. And I want to thank you and Mr. Shays for having
this hearing. I feel very strongly about this, and I just want to get
this on the record.

As the author of the legislation which created the National Gam-
bling Impact Study, I have long had serious concerns about the
harmful effects of gambling on society and on Native American
tribes. If you look at a snapshot of what is happening today, 80
percent of Native Americans live in poverty, poor schools, inad-
equate infrastructure, and abysmal health care, and the Congress
and the administration can and should do more to help Native
Americans.

Consider the snapshot: a broken—it is so broken—broken tribal
recognition process subject to severe abuses, wealthy investors and
lobbyists, and this town is becoming full of lobbyists in a way that
is fundamentally corrupt, and yet nobody seems to do anything
about it; making money from exploiting Native Americans while
trying to get them recognized and eventually engaged in gambling,
and no one says anything about it. Have the standards changed in
this town and in this Congress and in society? Money being made
at the expense of Native American tribes while few Native Ameri-
cans ever, ever see a dime from gambling and continue to suffer
in poor conditions.

This is the state of tribal recognition and Native American gam-
bling today. And I thank Mr. Davis for having this opportunity
where people can say something. The tribal recognition process is
broken. If this administration doesn’t realize it, then there ought
to be changes at Interior where they are willing to allow these
things to exist. Congress and the administration should take steps
in light of the mounting evidence.

When Time Magazine published a two-part cover story about the
many problems, no action was taken. Two parts, feature, cover
story, Time Magazine; Interior takes no action. Nothing was done.
There are countless news reports. My goodness, just look at the
news reports. Day after day of questions and unethical, immoral,
and maybe fundamental illegal activity is taking place.

With all the evidence there is about the problems with Native
American gambling, Congress and the administration has to take
some proper steps. This process is supposed to be marked by integ-
rity—and I worked at Interior under Secretary Roger C.B. Morton
for 5 years when there was integrity there. Now the Congress and
the administration are not using the opportunity to institute the
needed reforms.

I have written the administration time after time after time, and
you almost never get a response from the Department of the Inte-
rior. When there is a response it is not adequate. This is a biparti-
san failure. Both the Clinton administration and the Bush adminis-
tration and their respective Secretaries of the Interior, Bruce Bab-
bitt and Gail Norton, have stood by and allowed Native Americans
to continue to be exploited by gambling interests.
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Nearly 80 percent of Native Americans receive nothing from
gambling. Most tribes remain mired in poverty. Just go onto the
Indian reservations, and many are in areas whereby they cannot
take advantage of gambling because people are not going to go to
those areas to gamble, and tribes that are questionable are reaping
all the benefits, and the Native American community in this coun-
try, 80 percent are living in abject poverty.

Congress has to act to turn around the tribal recognition process.
It is filled with abuses. They are stunning. In the last administra-
tion, the Clinton administration, two officials reversed the opinions
of Interior Department staffers to recognize three groups as Indian
tribes, allowing them to open casinos. The decision was made in
the last days in office, against the recommendation of the profes-
sional staff. Then the two officials who decided to recognize the
tribes took positions representing Indian tribes. Clearly the seven
criteria that BIA applies to recognize tribes are being skirted, and
those making the decisions impacting tribes can leave the Interior
Department through a revolving door and then represent tribes in
the private sector. And, frankly, some of these law firms that hire
these people, these were law firms that were distinguished firms,
and now to be involved in this type of activity is shocking.

In March, a Connecticut newspaper reported that Bureau of In-
dian Affairs documents revealed that the BIA knew—knew—that
the tribe didn’t meet the BIA rules for recognition, but the staff in
the BIA Office of Federal Acknowledgment wrote a memo to the
agency’s director showing how to recognize the tribe anyway.

Lobbyists and investors have exploited Native Americans in
order to use them. Frankly, those who may be with those law
firms, those of you who may have left the administration at dif-
ferent times, how can you live with yourselves knowing the exploi-
tation that is taking place with regard to the poverty on the Indian
reservations?

The Government has walked away from its obligation to Native
Americans and, instead, relied on gambling as the panacea for the
problems. In fact, almost every administration in Congress has
said, well, if there is a problem, let them have gambling. That is
why you have seen the BIA budget has not been increased and the
programs for Indians have not been increased. This approach has
resulted in a Federal recognition process with standards that are
unevenly and unpredictably applied, influenced by big money and
harmful to the tribes and those petitioning for recognition.

I am not going to get into the Connecticut situation, you have
Connecticut Members, but imagine if you lived in a community in
your State, in your region that was going through what some of
these Connecticut towns are going through. To all of the big lobby-
ists out there, let us put a tribal operation where you live and see
how you would respond if you saw the corruption and the abuse
that was taking place.

Today, Mr. Chairman, I think there ought to be a moratorium.
The representatives of the Interior Department ought to announce
today they are going to have a moratorium. The Bush administra-
tion ought to say we are going to have a 1-year moratorium on the
recognition process so there is time for the Congress—because now
there is enough information—and the administration to review and
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fix the many problems. You have to get the money interests out of
the picture, do what is right for the Native Americans, and really
change, change this process.

I will end by just quoting a 2002 GAO report: ‘‘Weakness in the
process have created uncertainty about the basis for recognition de-
cisions, calling into question the objectivity of the process.’’ And for
anyone who wonders about it, the National Indian Gaming Com-
mission, where there are 330 Indian gambling tribes, reported at
the end of fiscal year 2002 in 28 States with revenue of $14.5 bil-
lion and 67 people at the National Indian Gaming Commission to
carry out Federal oversight, 67 people; and that may have changed,
maybe there is 69, maybe there is 75. But in Atlantic City, for 12
casinos, they have over 700 with oversight.

I have much more I would say. I will just submit the full state-
ment for the record. I appreciate the chairman having this hearing.

I don’t know who from the administration is there, but you all
have to change this. If you don’t change it, there will be major cor-
ruption scandals on this, and it will come back to wash up on the
shores. I implore this administration. Frankly, the Clinton admin-
istration did nothing. They watched things go on that were hor-
rible. I happen to be a Republican who supports this administra-
tion. I call on this administration. I call on Secretary Gail Norton
to do the right thing. They should say how they feel if this were
taking place in their own community.

And, last, to the administration, you should be more aggressive
in representing the interests of the Native Americans. You think
you are helping the Native Americans by doing this. You are allow-
ing them to be exploited by powerful money interests and lobbyists
in this town, and, frankly, this administration is failing on that
issue.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I yield back the balance of my time.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Blumenthal, thank you very much for your statement and

your continued interest in this. Your reputation precedes you. We
are honored to have you here today. Thank you very much for
being with us.

STATEMENTS OF RICHARD BLUMENTHAL, ATTORNEY GEN-
ERAL, STATE OF CONNECTICUT; THERESA ROSIER, COUN-
SELOR TO THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR INDIAN AF-
FAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, ACCOMPANIED BY
LEE FLEMING, DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF FEDERAL ACKNOWL-
EDGMENT, BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS; AND EARL E.
DEVANEY, INSPECTOR GENERAL, DEPARTMENT OF THE IN-
TERIOR

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man. I am honored to be back with you. Thank you for the invita-
tion, and I want to thank you for your leadership, most especially
Representative Shays for his continuing courage and conviction on
this issue, and Representative Simmons, who has shown great de-
termination and vision, as well as other members of the panel who
will probably be joining us.

And I want to join in thanking you for the Department of the In-
terior being here, most especially Inspector General Devaney,
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whose staff has recently visited Connecticut and is doing excellent
work; and the local officials who are joining us today from Con-
necticut, as well as Chairman Flowers, because she has shown
great determination to be here as well, and I thank her for her
leadership.

I am not going to give in depth or detail my testimony, I assume
it will be in the record, but the comments—very eloquent and ar-
ticulate comments—made so far lead me to say that we are at a
historic turning point. I sense from the comments that have been
made so far this morning that there is a clear recognition that re-
form is vital, that we have a unique and historic opportunity, and
really a window of opportunity to make these changes before we do
further damage to my State and to the Nation, and not just in spe-
cific decisions that may be incorrect or illegal, but further damage
to the credibility and trust of the entire recognition process.

Reform is no longer a luxury, it is a necessity, and Vice Chair-
man Shays used a word, scandal, to describe the present process.
That is exactly the word that Senator Daniel Inouye used to de-
scribe this process. Senator Ben Nighthorse Campbell said that it
is driven by money and politics. There is a bipartisan consensus
now that we need fundamental, far-reaching reform.

I have described this agency as being lawless. I did so most re-
cently before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit when
I argued last week. It is an agency that is lawless, out of control,
arbitrary, capricious, and we need to impose standards that assure
the rule of law. In the Schaghticoke decision, for example, my view
is that the outcome is as unprincipled as it is unprecedented. Never
before has the BIA recognized a tribe that is admitted by the agen-
cy itself to completely lack evidence on two key required standards
over decades, seven decades for one of them. Never before has the
BIA combined in this way two such hostile factions, neither accept-
ing the other’s legitimacy. And never before has the BIA so twisted
and distorted State recognition to cover its deliberate disregard for
absent evidence.

I must say, Mr. Chairman, that I am also very, very deeply trou-
bled by an order that was issued literally within the past few days
by the Secretary of the Interior that completely delegates authority
over all recognition and gaming decisions within the BIA to the
principal deputy, delegates that decisionmaking power from the As-
sistant Secretary, who was confirmed by the U.S. Senate to fulfill
these responsibilities, and who has recused himself, apparently,
from all decisionmaking relating to recognition or gaming activi-
ties. In my view, that across-the-board general, complete delega-
tion, not a specific recusal on a case-by-case basis where there may
be a conflict of interest based on the facts, but a complete delega-
tion raises very, very profound and serious questions of law. For
example, the over-breadth of delegation, the lack of oversight and
accountability to the U.S. Congress which confirmed this official to
fulfill those responsibilities I think merits immediate and urgent
scrutiny, and I intend to give it, and I know Members of Congress
will be interested in these issues as well.

I agree that there ought to be a moratorium on Bureau of Indian
Affairs tribal acknowledgment decisions or appeals affecting Con-
necticut, and probably the United States, and there ought to be a
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full and far-reaching investigation, perhaps by this committee, but
at the very least by the U.S. Congress, of the BIA’s actions. And
I would join Congressman Shays in urging that certain of the par-
ties be invited again to appear. If they are unable or unwilling to
do so, they ought to be subpoenaed to appear. We have used the
subpoena as attorneys general, as have other law enforcement
agencies. This issue raises profound issues of integrity and lawful-
ness that I think go to the heart of the credibility and integrity of
the process.

I have proposed a number of reforms, and I will just repeat them
very briefly. I believe that one of those fundamental reforms has
to be creating an independent agency that is insulated from politics
and lobbying and personal agendas to make these tribal recognition
decisions, out of respect, a profound respect that I share, for the
sovereignty of tribes that are recognized. The tribal groups that
meet the criteria, and they are sound criteria, in the law now ought
to be recognized. Those that fail to meet those criteria should not
be accorded this sovereign status. And an independent agency
much like, perhaps, the Federal Communications Commission or
the Federal Trade Commission, should be appointed to exercise
those powers.

Those criteria ought to be embodied in statute so there is no
question about how rigorously and faithfully they should be ap-
plied, and resources ought to be provided to interested parties,
towns, cities, States, as well as the tribes themselves, so that they
can participate meaningfully in this process.

And may I just summarize by saying that this issue really is one
that is bipartisan. It is not about party, it is not about geography,
or about interest group allegiance one way or the other; it is about
a common interest, which is the public interest, and most impor-
tantly a public trust in the integrity of these decisions that affect
our Nation so vitally and so irreversibly once they are made. And
I believe, again, that we are at a turning point when we can save
ourselves from going into a thicket of irreversible and mistaken de-
cisions that ultimately harm the Nation. We still have time to turn
from that thicket and avoid continued mistakes.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Blumenthal follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much, Mr. Blumenthal.
Ms. Rosier, thanks for being with us.
Ms. ROSIER. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the

committee. My name is Theresa Rosier, and I am Counselor to the
Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs. I would like to submit my
full testimony for the record, but will abbreviate my statement here
today. In addition, I would like to recognize Lee Fleming, who is
the Director of the Office of Federal Acknowledgment, who is here
with me today.

I am pleased to be here on behalf of the Department of the Inte-
rior to discuss the Federal acknowledgment process, recent im-
provements to this process and proposed potential improvements to
provide a more transparent, clear, and efficient acknowledgment
process. I understand this issue is of importance to this committee,
as Vice Chairman Shays and others who are here today cospon-
sored H.R. 4213, which is a bill that codifies the criteria estab-
lished at 25 C.F.R. Part 83, and which also repeals certain exemp-
tions for formal Federal officials and employees representing In-
dian tribes.

Although the Department supports it’s current Federal acknowl-
edgment process, we do recognize that improvements can be made.
The Department is generally supportive of legislation that main-
tains the criteria at 25 C.F.R. Part 83, but that also promotes in-
creased transparency, integrity, and time sensitivity to the process.

When the current administration came into office, Federal ac-
knowledgment quickly became a high priority. In November 2001,
the General Accounting Office issued a report entitled ‘‘Indian
Issues: Improvements Needed in the Federal Recognition Process.’’
The two primary findings of this report was that the process was
not timely and that the decisionmaking was not transparent to oth-
ers.

In response to this GAO report, the Assistant Secretary devel-
oped and implemented a strategic plan to provide strategies to
communicate more clearly the acknowledgment decisionmaking
process and also to improve the timeliness of this process. Today
I would like to discuss some of the accomplishments the Depart-
ment has made in implementing its strategic plan.

First, to provide for more increased clarity and transparency in
the process, all technical assistance review letters, proposed find-
ings, final determinations, and reconsider petitions have been put
on a CD-ROM such as this. The CD-ROM has been made available
to the general public and to interested parties. We are hopeful that
this information will be available on the Internet once the BIA is
able to access the Internet.

No. 2, to increase the ability of the Office of Federal Acknowledg-
ment in reviewing petitions and accompanying documentation in a
more time-sensitive manner, resources have been provided to fill
two professional staff vacancies. These additional staff members
have resulted in the formation of three professional research
teams. As you know, each team has a member that represents who
can talk about the history, the genealogy, and the anthropology be-
hind each petition.

Third, to increase the productivity of the office, we have hired
two sets of independent contractors. The first set of contractors are
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two Freedom of Information Act specialists. As you can tell from
our two petitions I brought today, many of our records are quite
voluminous, and FOIA requests often tie down our staff, so we
have hired independent contractors to help us with our FOIA re-
quests. The second set of contractors helps with our FAIR system,
which I will discuss in a minute, which is a computer data base
system which scans and indexes documents. Having the FAIR sys-
tem has helped expedite the process as petitioners and interested
parties may access the information on CD-ROM.

Let me talk a little bit more about our FAIR system. The BIA
has implemented the Federal Acknowledgment Information Re-
source system. This is a computer data base system which provides
on-screen access to all documents in the administrative record. The
system allows researchers to have immediate access to the records
and also allows petitioning groups, interested parties such as State
and local governments, to have the entire administrative record on
CD-ROM. In addition, all data entries made by our researchers are
included on the FAIR system.

Another significant improvement made to the Federal acknowl-
edgment process was in the realignment of the Bureau of Indian
Affairs. The former branch of Acknowledgment and Research has
been entitled now the Office of Federal Acknowledgment, which
now reports directly to the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary for
Indian Affairs.

Due to the above-mentioned improvements to the Federal rec-
ognition process, the Office of Federal Acknowledgment has com-
pleted 14 major decisions since January 2001. We have completed
six proposed findings, six final determinations, and two reconsid-
ered final determinations.

On April 1, 2004, Secretary Norton requested Indian Affairs to
review our strategic plan and ensure that all appropriate steps are
being taken to implement the plan. As we have discussed, the De-
partment has completed many of these action items; however, we
have some more long-term action items which are underway. We
plan on completing most tasks by the fall of this year; however,
there are some items that may require statutory or regulatory
amendments or access to the Internet, which may not be done or
accomplished by this fall.

In addition, we are also planning to formalize an already internal
policy of the Assistant Secretary’s office that prohibits the Federal
acknowledgment decisionmaker from having contact or communica-
tions with a petitioner or interested party within 60 days of an ac-
knowledgment decision. Formalization of this process will ensure
that all parties are aware of the 60-day period and protect the in-
tegrity of the process.

In conclusion, the Department believes that the acknowledgment
and existence of an Indian tribe is a serious decision for the Fed-
eral Government. When the Government acknowledges a tribe, it
recognizes that an inherent sovereign has continued to exist from
historical times until present. These decisions have significant im-
pacts on the surrounding community; therefore, these decisions
should be made with a thorough evaluation of the evidence in an
open, transparent, and timely manner.
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I thank you for the opportunity to be here today. I will answer
any questions you have.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Rosier follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. Devaney, thanks for being with us.
Mr. DEVANEY. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I

want to thank you for the opportunity to address the committee
this morning on issues——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Is your mic on?
Mr. DEVANEY [continuing]. On issues attendant to the tribal rec-

ognition process. I have submitted my full statement for the record
and would now like to make some brief remarks and then answer
any questions the committee has for me today.

Mr. Chairman, I am here today to testify about my office’s over-
sight activities concerning the tribal recognition process adminis-
tered by the Department of the Interior. As you know, tribal rec-
ognition, or the acknowledgment process of the Department, has
been severely criticized by GAO and others for its lack of trans-
parency. I don’t disagree with that criticism, and I am an advocate
for more of it. However, relatively speaking, it is actually one of the
more transparent processes at the Interior, especially after the re-
cent changes noted earlier. As a point of fact, the process generally
follows the due process requirements of the Administrative Proce-
dures Act, which includes giving notice, providing an opportunity
to comment, and an appeal mechanism.

When conducting an investigation of a program such as tribal
recognition, we naturally identify all the key players and then
interview them. This includes not only DOI personnel, but individ-
uals outside of the Department. In tribal recognition matters, this
may include individuals identified by our own investigators, by the
Office of Federal Acknowledgment, or simply parties who have spe-
cifically signaled an interest in the acknowledgment process, such
as a State attorney general. Accordingly, when we conduct inter-
views in a given tribal recognition matter, we always begin with
those OFA team members who are charged with the petition re-
view process. Based on our experience, these are the most likely
sources to provide evidence of any inappropriate influence of the
process.

In our 2001 investigation, which included the Eastern Pequot In-
dian petition, we quickly heard from these folks about some rather
disturbing deviations from the established processes that occurred
at the end of the previous administration. Several recognition deci-
sions, including the Eastern Pequot petition, had been made by the
acting Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs which were contrary
to the recommendations of the acknowledgment review team. In
fact, we even found one of these decisions was signed and back-
dated by the former acting Assistant Secretary after he had left of-
fice.

Mr. SHAYS. Who was that?
Mr. DEVANEY. I believe that was Mr. Anderson.
We were only recently asked to investigate the Schaghticoke trib-

al acknowledgment decision. Unfortunately, our investigation of the
Schaghticoke decision is not yet complete; therefore, I can’t com-
ment on its outcome. I can, however, assure you that we are con-
ducting a thorough investigation to determine whether there was
any deviation from the established process in the consideration of
this petition. We are, of course, interviewing OFA staff, acknowl-
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edgment review team members, and senior Department officials to
determine if any undue pressure may have been exerted. We have
also spoken to Attorney General Blumenthal and members of his
staff, as well as tribal representatives and officials from the Town
of Kent to better understand their concerns. Their perspective is
very important to us, and several investigative leads were devel-
oped out of those discussions.

Given the recent media reports of alleged improper lobbying in-
fluences relating to Indian gaming, my office now routinely in-
cludes in its scope of investigation inquiries into any lobbying influ-
ences that might bear on a particular Indian issue or program with
a view toward targeting improper lobbying influences on any em-
ployee of the Department. In the end, I am confident that we will
be able to present a thorough and complete report regarding the
way this petition was acknowledged.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, I recently sent Congressman Wolf a list
of issues which we consider to be impediments to good oversight
and enforcement. One of those issues is the statute which permits
recently departed DOI employees to go out and immediately rep-
resent recognized Indian tribes in connection with matters pending
before the Federal Government. This exemption was created in
part because Indian tribes, at the time of its enactment in 1975,
had little or no access to persons with expertise in Indian matters.
Today, that dynamic has obviously changed. We simply believe that
this statute has outlived its original intent and that this exemption
now perpetuates the proverbial revolving door. Without this excep-
tion to the normal cooling-off period that all other departing execu-
tive branch employees must adhere to, this would obviously be a
violation of the criminal conflict of interest laws.

Recently, in a prosecution stemming from one of our investiga-
tions, the U.S. Attorney’s Office in the Northern District of New
York secured a guilty plea by an individual who had submitted
fraudulent documents in an effort to obtain Federal recognition for
the Western Mohegan tribe and nation. Evidence presented at trial
demonstrated that this fraudulent application was made in the
hope of initiating gaming and casino operations in upstate New
York. We are hopeful that this conviction will send a clear message
to others who would attempt to corrupt the tribal acknowledgment
process.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, we have recently increased our investiga-
tive efforts and have now joined forces with the FBI in several mat-
ters to leverage our limited mutual resources. In some cases we are
operating in a task force setting where one of our agents is always
paired up with one of theirs. Coupled with a strong commitment
recently made to us by the 26 U.S. attorneys who prosecute cases
in Indian Country, I am confident that you will begin to see the
results of our labors in the near future.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, this concludes my
remarks, and I would be happy to answer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Devaney follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00048 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



45

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00049 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



46

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00050 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



47

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00051 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



48

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00052 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



49

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00053 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



50

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you all very much.
Let me start with a question. This will not be our last hearing

on this, and we probably will issue some subpoenas, particularly
the unwillingness of one of the tribes to come forward today, I
think, raises some additional issues for us. Do you know if legisla-
tively or administratively there is a way to decertify a tribe if
something was amiss in the original certification, if fraud could be
proved and the like? Does anybody have any thoughts on that?

Ms. ROSIER. Congress has the authority to terminate Indian
tribes, and they did that during the termination era, so Congress
could do that.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. We could do it by act? Could you do it ad-
ministratively?

Ms. ROSIER. Well, at this point, if they are at the IBIA, once the
decision is issued by the IBIA, then it becomes a final agency ac-
tion, and then it goes to Federal District Court.

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. If I may supplement and agree with the state-
ment that has just been made. Recognition, in effect, is an act of
Congress, and one of the points that I have made in challenging
a number of the decisions on recognition is that right now that del-
egation is over-broad. And I have urged that Congress, in effect, re-
assume or take back some of the authority that it seems to have
delegated, and I agree that Congress could reverse a decision to
recognize a tribe because, ultimately, the authority stays with Con-
gress.

Administratively, these decisions are irreversible, and that is one
of the very profoundly important facts here. And if I may just again
draw the analogy, you know, when the U.S. Government makes a
decision to issue a broadcast license or approve a corporate merger
or permit a stock offering, it goes to an independent agency that
has rules and standards. The same is not true of recognition deci-
sions whose consequences are even more profoundly far-reaching
and important to the Nation.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. One of the things that is most disturbing
to me as an outsider, somebody who represents the Washington
suburbs where this has not been an issue, is the vast amounts of
money that go into these things, money spread across the political
spectrum in a bipartisan way, huge money to lobbyist insiders,
very disturbing, and it raises just a host of issues that I think
somebody needs to pursue. This committee has that authority; we
are the major investigative arm. We don’t have the legislative au-
thority of the Resources Committee on some of these other Indian
matters, but we do have broad investigative authorities and sub-
poena power. Maybe that is where it needs to begin, because every-
one else has kind of walked away from this gingerly, and yet Mem-
bers come up to me on the floor and express concerns about some
of the money they see changing hands on this and the like. So we
intend to pursue this. I just want to make that clear.

I appreciate everybody being here.
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. And if I may just add, the financial stakes

here and the money involved is the elephant in the room that no
one wants to acknowledge. It is driving the process, and the reason
is quite simply that the stakes have become so enormous. It is the
reason that the financial backer of the Schaghticokes, Fred
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DeLuca, has acknowledged he has already spent $10 million. The
amounts of money for other tribes, each of them $10 million or
more, acknowledged and on the record, and they are not even near-
ly complete with the process. So I think that the presence of gam-
bling interests and the stakes involved have enormously raised the
stakes in the lobbying game as well, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, when you take a look at the mem-
bership of some of these tribes and the revenue, it doesn’t pass the
smell test to a lot of us. I think we just need to understand it a
little better, and nobody has gone beyond the first or second layer
of questions to delve down. That is why we are interested in what
the IG comes forward with in terms of some of the procedures, but
we intend to ask more.

I appreciate your leadership, too, Mr. Blumenthal, on this.
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Thank you.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Ms. Rosier, let me ask you. Most of the

improvements to the Federal acknowledgment process you dis-
cussed are procedural, but major criticisms of the current process
concern lack of objectivity or susceptibility to undue influence.
What measures are being taken to overcome those criticisms?

Ms. ROSIER. Well, for example, in my testimony I stated that we
have imposed an informal 60-day period that when a petition is ei-
ther going for the proposed finding or a final determination, that
the decisionmaker does not speak to interested parties or to the pe-
titioning group. We are going to formalize that policy. I can say
that in every Federal recognition decision that I have been involved
in at the Department, I have not seen the type of impropriety that
has been alleged here. I have seen a collaborative process where
the staff has come with recommendations, the solicitor’s office has
talked to us about the law and the spirit and intent of the law, we
have made decisions that we found to be good public policy.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. You know, if I were to write a letter to
the FCC on behalf of an application for somebody in my district,
every letter, every phone call from the administration is all logged
in at the FCC. Does that happen at Interior? If somebody else in
the administration calls over, if somebody calls from the White
House or somebody says this is important, is that logged in? Is that
transparent for the public? And do your regulations and informal
procedures take that into account?

Ms. ROSIER. That is not in our regulations at this time.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. I would submit that is where a lot of this

occurs. And it is not transparent. None of these procedure touch
that, and yet a lot of times, when you are doing political influence,
it usually doesn’t go to the Deputy Secretary level or sometimes
even to the decisionmaker. It goes above them, and the pressure
comes down. If someone wants to make a recommendation that a
status be granted, that is fine. People are free to do that; they are
free to state their opinion. But there ought to be a record of that
and we ought to know where it is coming from, because some of
the decisions that have come out here don’t seem to meet the cri-
teria, at least the way the testimony before us today has shown
and from the information that this committee has.

Why were they granted? I think there were clearly communica-
tions in this case that were not appropriately logged, and any kind
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of procedure that you have ought to take those into account. We
have those in other Federal agencies, and I hope you will consider
this.

Let me ask this. How do you explain the Assistant Secretary’s re-
versal of the Branch of Acknowledgment’s recommendation to deny
both of these tribes’ recognition applications consistent with BIA
procedural requirements?

Ms. ROSIER. We have actually in the past, I think, with the
Wampanoag Gay Head Band, and I think it was in the 1980’s, we
had actually had a proposed finding that was a negative and the
final determination was a positive. Also, in the Mohegan situation
in Connecticut, the proposed finding was also a negative and the
final determination was a positive.

The proposed finding is simply like a draft environmental impact
statement, it is a chance to point out deficiencies and the petition-
ers have an opportunity to cure those deficiencies. And in both
these situations the petitioners cured the deficiencies?

Chairman TOM DAVIS. But my questions don’t go to those two
tribes. My question goes in this case to the other tribes.

Ms. ROSIER. Schaghticoke and Eastern Historical Pequot?
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Correct, the two Connecticut tribes.
Ms. ROSIER. Although I can’t talk about the specifics of those sit-

uations, since they are both at IBIA appeal and Schaghticoke is
under an inspector general investigation, I can talk to the general-
ities. We feel that our petitions speak for themselves, and that the
proposed finding gave them an opportunity to cure their defi-
ciencies, and they did that.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. So, in your opinion, they cured the defi-
ciencies.

Ms. ROSIER. The staff’s recommendation was that they cured
those deficiencies, and that was the decision that was made.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. And that was driven completely by the
staff?

Ms. ROSIER. It was driven by the anthropological history and
genealogical research that was done by my staff.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. Blumenthal, you proposed several
specific proposals for reforming the recognition process, including
the creation of an independent agency adopting recognition criteria,
providing assistance for municipalities. That is what you propose?

Let me just ask Mr. Devaney, do you have any reaction to those
proposals?

Mr. DEVANEY. Could I address one of the questions you asked
earlier about lobbyists registering?

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Yes, please.
Mr. DEVANEY. I think that is a terrific idea for a number of rea-

sons. First of all, it obviously adds to the transparency. To have
somebody that wants to come in and get involved in this process
to be in the administrative record of having done so. It also pro-
tects people that work at the Department from unfounded allega-
tions later on. And, finally, it is obviously a good starting point for
us when we do one of these investigations that comes our way, ei-
ther by our own volition or maybe a congressional request. So I
think that would have an enormous benefit.
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. Devaney, you stated that you found
some rather disturbing deviation from the established process of
processing Indian recognition decisions that were made in the pre-
vious administration. When the inspector general finds a serious
violation that was committed by a government official who is no
longer in his or her position, what authority do you have at that
point?

Mr. DEVANEY. Well, we have authority there, and we took that
to the U.S. Attorney’s Office, and they declined prosecution.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. All right. This committee has authority, of
course, too.

Mr. DEVANEY. Yes.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. We have subpoena power as well.
Mr. DEVANEY. Yes.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. Thank you very much.
Mr. Shays.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With your indulgence, I

would like to defer and let Mr. Simmons ask questions, and I will
follow.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Great. He has to get over to the floor on
an important bill, so, Mr. Simmons, you are recognized.

Mr. SIMMONS. I thank the distinguished gentleman from Con-
necticut’s Fourth District.

Two questions. First to Mr. Devaney. Pages 4 and 5 of your testi-
mony refer to the revolving door and the fact that the revolving
door at the Bureau of Indian Affairs derives from a decision that
was made in the mid-1970’s. And I gather from your testimony that
you now feel that this exemption is no longer a good exemption, it
should be changed. You stated that the statute has outlived its
original intent and the exemption now perpetuates a revolving
door.

Am I to understand, then, that the official position of the Depart-
ment of the Interior is to support the elimination of the revolving
door provision for BIA officials?

Mr. DEVANEY. Congressman, I don’t speak for the Department.
Inspector generals are independent entities. Yes, we work for the
administration. We also work for Congress. We also work for you.
That is my personal view, and I think it would be enormously help-
ful to the process if that became enacted, but I don’t speak for the
Department.

Mr. SIMMONS. Well, I guess earlier today the chairman swore you
and others have testimony here in your name as inspector general
of the Department of the Interior which states very clearly that you
believe this revolving door exemption has outlived its original in-
tent, and that without the exemption of the normal cooling-off pe-
riod that all other departing executive branch employees must ad-
here to, this would be a violation of the criminal conflict of interest
laws that apply. That is a pretty strong statement. And one of the
problems that we have had over the last several years, and I have
to say it is very frustrating, is we hear the nice words and we hear
the nice intentions, and then nothing is done.

We have had legislation over the last 3 years to try to close the
revolving door, which is such an obvious thing to do, and yet that
legislation goes nowhere. And as far as I can tell, the administra-
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tion, the Department of the Interior takes no ownership of that sort
of thing. It is such a simple thing. And even the Secretary of Inte-
rior says that she has concerns about it, it has troubled her, and
yet we cannot seem to get a concrete statement out of the Depart-
ment of the Interior even on something this simple.

You testify that it is your personal view.
That is not good enough, Mr. Chairman. We swear witnesses, we

ask for written testimony, we try to assess what they are saying
in the context of what other people are concerned about, and it
can’t be personal anymore; it has to be the position of the adminis-
tration, it has to be the position of the Department. So my question
really I guess is going to go unanswered. We are not getting a solid
answer, a policy answer from the Department of the Interior, and
it is so frustrating.

But let me just stop and shift my focus.
Mr. DEVANEY. Can I try one more time?
Mr. SHAYS [presiding]. Let me just interrupt a second.
When it comes to the inspector general and the GAO, they are

going beyond, I think, their requirements to express an opinion
about a law. So we want you to do findings and then we will evalu-
ate. So I think the Chair cuts you a little slack on that.

Mr. DEVANEY. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Not so true of the Department of the Interior, how-

ever.
Ms. ROSIER. Would you like me to answer the question?
Mr. SIMMONS. Yes.
Ms. ROSIER. I cannot give the official position on your legislation

here today, but I can say, as my testimony did, that we would be
supportive and would be willing to work with you on this situation.

Mr. SIMMONS. I thank you for that.
Now I have a second question regarding the first page of your

testimony. You refer to the seven mandatory criteria. Mandatory
conveys to me that they are required, that they must be done, they
must be followed. There are seven. All seven must be followed. And
yet there is factual evidence and we have received testimony even
this morning that there is evidence that they are not being followed
in a mandatory way, that people adjudicating these decisions can
pick or choose. That is why the Connecticut delegation has spon-
sored legislation to place the seven mandatory criteria in statute.

What is your understanding of what these mandatory criteria
are? Must they all be followed? And, two, does the Department of
the Interior support placing them in statute?

Ms. ROSIER. I will answer the latter half first. As my testimony
stated, although I cannot give an official position on H.R. 4219, I
believe, we would be supportive of legislation that was consistent
with 25 C.F.R. Part 83 and that kept our seven mandatory criteria.
In the Schaghticoke decision—and I know we are going to disagree
on this—we believe that the seven mandatory criteria were ful-
filled. That was our recommendation.

Mr. SIMMONS. Is there any case that has come to the attention
of any of the witnesses, Mr. Blumenthal, where you feel that the
seven mandatory criteria were not met?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. With all due respect, I know you may have to
leave shortly. In the Schaghticoke decision, as well as the Eastern
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Pequot decision, those seven criteria have not been met, very clear-
ly and unequivocally by the admission of the BIA itself. And it uses
evidence that is clearly improper about State dealings to com-
pensate for the acknowledged lack of evidence on those seven cri-
teria. For example, it admits a seven decade gap, 1801 to 1875, on
the existence of political authority, which is one of the key criteria,
a gap that simply cannot be overcome by supposed State recogni-
tion that was not begun until 1973, even if it were proper to use
that fact, which we contend it is not.

And I just want to say, in response to your point, which I think
is a very, very central one, where is the Department of the Interior
today? Why are they not here? Without any disrespect to the two
representatives, where is the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs
today? And why is he not speaking for the Department of the Inte-
rior on the two core questions that he was confirmed by the U.S.
Congress to decide and deliberate and, presumably in the public in-
terest, speak to the U.S. Congress and the American people? I don’t
mean any disrespect to Ms. Rosier or Mr. Devaney; their roles are
limited. But this Congress deserves answers from the Assistant
Secretary for Indian Affairs on these central questions.

Mr. SIMMONS. Mr. Chairman, let me extend my apologies to the
two witnesses if I got a little hot. I am Irish. But I will tell you,
as the attorney general and others know, I have been punching
this pillow for a decade, and as the attorney general has pointed
out, whenever it comes time to get concrete answers on the record,
it just doesn’t come to pass. So it is very frustrating.

Mr. SHAYS. I thank the gentleman. We are going to have some
votes. I know that Mr. Wolf just wants to make a comment, and
then I am going to recognize Mr. Duncan.

Mr. WOLF. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am not going to have
any questions. I appreciate Attorney General Blumenthal’s com-
ments. I want to thank Mr. Davis and you, Mr. Shays, and Mr.
Simmons.

To the Department, having worked there for 5 years under Sec-
retary Roger C.B. Morton, if he could see what you are doing, all
previous Secretaries, you would be held in disgrace. I ask you as
a Republican Member of the Congress who supports this adminis-
tration on most issues, go back and clean up your house. As the
attorney general said, it is the elephant in the room. This whole
town, and now the whole country, knows about the corrupt process
with regard to money. You have an opportunity, and I ask you to
one, have a 1-year moratorium and two, follow—and I want to com-
mend the IG, he has done nice work, and I understand you can’t
be making policy, but follow the recommendation of your IG. Listen
to Attorney General Blumenthal. Be for Mr. Shays’ and Mr. Sim-
mons’ bill. Show us over the next couple of months that you can—
you know, maybe you missed it. We all make mistakes. But now
that the whole world knows, this is your opportunity. And, at a
minimum, you really need a 1-year moratorium whereby this Con-
gress and this committee and others can come back and make a
difference. Otherwise, as the attorney general said, this is a key
time. If we fail now, the fault will lie at the steps of Secretary Gail
Norton and this administration.

With that, Mr. Speaker, I yield.
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Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Duncan, you have time, and I am going to hold
the panel in recess afterwards, because I have about 15 minutes of
questions.

Mr. DUNCAN. Well, just let me say I agree with Mr. Wolf. You
know, I will go back to Mr. Blumenthal’s comment about people not
being willing to acknowledge the elephant in the room. I can tell
you it is obvious to everybody that this is all about money. This is
all about big money. And the most interesting thing is in the brief-
ing memorandum that we were given, it says prior to the imple-
mentation of the current recognition regulations in 1978, BIA had
received 40 petitions from groups seeking formal tribal recognition.
Since 1978, BIA has received an additional 254 petitions. I mean,
it is obvious.

So I ask when was the first Indian casino opened? And they told
me in 1979 the Seminole Tribe opened a high-stakes bingo parlor.
If this isn’t all about gambling and big money, then ask these
tribes that are seeking recognition will they sign a waiver of their
right to open up a casino. I think it is also, in addition, to some
extent about all the benefits they receive from the BIA and the In-
dian Health Service, because there are billions involved in that too.
But it is all about the gambling, and I think everybody has been
shocked by the huge, huge, huge money that has been spent on the
lobbying. And then we have been given this book, ‘‘Without Res-
ervation’’ by Jeff Benedict, who is on the third panel, and it says
in 1973 an old American Indian woman dies with nothing left of
her tribe but a 214 acre tract of abandoned forest. And it seems
to be about the end of the tribe, but it is just the beginning, and
then it exploded because of the gambling.

I mean, this is getting totally out of hand, it is getting ridiculous.
I am from Knoxville, TN. I even had a man who came to see me
in my office, a couple men who came to see me in my office in 1990
in Knoxville because they wanted to get involved in the casino
business up in Connecticut with this tribe. I mean, this is getting
totally out of hand.

And I appreciate the interest of Mr. Shays in calling this hear-
ing, and I agree with the comment that was just made that there
needs to be a moratorium. And once again I will say if it is not
about gambling and it is not about big money, ask them will they
sign a waiver and give up their right to open up a casino in return
for recognition, and I think you will see how fast this is all about
big money and all about gambling.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. I thank the gentleman.
We will be in a brief recess, just, I think, one vote, and then we

will be right back. Thank you.
[Recess.]
Mr. SHAYS. We are back on the record.
I will start by asking Department of the Interior the reason why

Gail Norton’s secretary, Gail Norton of Interior, wrote on April
12th, ‘‘As you requested I have completed the attached order dele-
gating authority for gaming-related matters to Principal Deputy
Assistant Secretary Aurene Martin. Thank you for initiating this
action to avoid any appearance of conflict.’’ And then there is the
order.
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I would like an explanation of this.
Ms. ROSIER. The recusal of Mr. Anderson, Assistant Secretary for

Indian Affairs, off of gaming, Federal recognition, and land into
trust for gaming is very personal to his background before he be-
came Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs, and he wanted to
avoid any appearances of impropriety and just asked to recuse him-
self from those issues.

Mr. SHAYS. But he didn’t ask to recuse himself from one particu-
lar tribal application. He is basically asking for a blanket exemp-
tion from ruling on any Indian gaming?

Ms. ROSIER. It is a blanket recusal to avoid appearance of impro-
priety.

Mr. SHAYS. And he is in charge of the Bureau of Indian Affairs?
Ms. ROSIER. Yes. He is Assistant Secretary.
Mr. SHAYS. So we have the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs

saying that he wants to have no responsibility for the very job he
was assigned to do. Doesn’t that strike you as being a little
strange?

Ms. ROSIER. Actually, we have a responsibility on a number of
matters, not just gaming and Federal recognition and land into
trust. We have land into trust that is non-gaming related. Half of
our employees and half of our budget is for our Bureau of Indian
Affairs school system.

Mr. SHAYS. So he can do part of his job; he just can’t do all of
his job.

Ms. ROSIER. He can do a vast majority of his job. He has just
recused himself from three issues.

Mr. SHAYS. That involve the recognition of Indian tribes, which
is a huge, essential part of the Department. Wouldn’t you agree
this is an important element?

Ms. ROSIER. It is a very serious responsibility.
Mr. SHAYS. Now, this delegation of power, was it delegated to

someone that has to come before Congress, the Senate?
Ms. ROSIER. No. It was delegated to our Principal Deputy Assist-

ant Secretary. She is not Senate confirmed.
Mr. SHAYS. So you have taken a Senate confirmed person and

you have delegated that power to someone who is not Senate con-
firmed. Does that seem appropriate to you?

Ms. ROSIER. It has been reviewed within the Department, and
the Department, before the Secretary signed it, it has been re-
viewed.

Mr. SHAYS. I would invite the inspector general to maybe re-
spond about this, and then I will ask the attorney general.

Mr. DEVANEY. Well, I really don’t know the circumstances under
which the Assistant Secretary made his recusals. My understand-
ing is the same as just stated, that he needed to recuse himself
from three issues principally because he used to be in the gaming
business.

Mr. SHAYS. Which makes me question whether he should have
ever gotten the appointment, if you can’t do a significant part of
your job. But that is obviously we will talk to the Secretary about.

Mr. Blumenthal.
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Yes. Mr. Chairman, as I have stated, my office

discovered this fact when we were reviewing testimony that the
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Principal Deputy, Aurene Martin, offered to one of the congres-
sional committees that was reported off-handedly, well down in a
story, on the substantive testimony. And we followed up, we pur-
sued it with the Secretary of the Interior’s Office and, in fact, I
have with me and I have submitted to this committee a copy of the
order which is unprecedented, I believe. It is the equivalent of ap-
pointing the administrator of the Food and Drug Administration
and then saying that administrator will have nothing to do with
drugs, period, and instead will delegate those decisions to deputies
who are not confirmed by the U.S. Senate and are not accountable
to the U.S. Congress for powers that this body delegates to that of-
ficial.

The issue of accountability is front and center, and the lack of
accountability is certainly profoundly troubling, if not illegal. In
fact, I think there are very great legal questions raised by this del-
egation and also by the testimony that was offered by Assistant
Secretary Dave Anderson during his confirmation proceedings
when he said that he would recuse himself only on specific deci-
sions, as I understand it.

So I think that there are lots of different analogies that could be
drawn, but fundamentally this subject matter is at the core of the
responsibility of the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs and can-
not ethically and legally be delegated in this way.

Mr. SHAYS. We, the Connecticut delegation, Nancy Johnson, Rob
Simmons, and myself, as well as Frank Wolf, met with the Sec-
retary. We also then, as a full delegation from Connecticut, met
with the Secretary. I don’t recall this issue coming up for discus-
sion. Do you have any information that this was provided to us?
Who was notified about this?

Ms. ROSIER. I am sorry, I was not at the meeting.
Mr. SHAYS. Let me go through a number of different questions,

but I am unclear as to the Department’s position on moratorium.
Ms. ROSIER. I can take that recommendation back to the Depart-

ment.
Mr. SHAYS. And our recommendation is, obviously, that there be

a 1-year moratorium, in part for this very fact here. You basically
have someone who has a responsibility dealing with tribal recogni-
tion who basically can’t fulfill his statutory responsibility.

I am unclear as to the Department’s position on the legislation
that Mr. Simmons and Mrs. Johnson and others are promoting. As
my daughter would say, one time when I agreed with her position
and she kept trying to convince me about it, and I started to say,
sweetie, you know, when you have made a sale, you don’t have to
keep making the sale; and she said to me, but, dad, you don’t be-
lieve passionately enough.

And I don’t feel your passion. And ‘‘working with’’ does not de-
scribe to me the position of the administration on this. Do you sup-
port this proposal or are you going to simply work with us?

Ms. ROSIER. Because this is not a legislative hearing and this is
an oversight hearing, I am unable to give the official position of the
Department on the legislation. I think our written testimony and
my oral testimony has alluded that we would like to work with you
on this.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
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I am going to go through a series of questions.
Mrs. Johnson, do you have a little bit of time to stay or would

you like to be recognized next?
I am going to go through a few and then turn to Mrs. Johnson

to ask some questions. And we have written these down because
I want to make sure we cover them. And these are to you, Mr.
Blumenthal.

With regard to both Pequot and Schaghticoke petitions, the BIA
staff issued proposed findings that the tribes had failed to dem-
onstrate they met one or more of the mandatory regulatory criteria
for recognition. Is this correct?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Correct.
Mr. SHAYS. In the case of the Pequots, what new evidence was

submitted and reviewed by all interested parties that justified the
final determination of Federal tribal status?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. In our view, there was insufficient evidence on
two key criteria: continuous community existence and continuous
political authority. There were gaps during critical periods of time
that were admitted by the BIA. Instead of the evidence that was
required, the BIA submitted that recognition should be granted be-
cause of State dealings with the supposed tribe. The nature of the
dealings was with individuals, if any. They may have been individ-
uals who were decendents of tribal members. But the key question
is whether a tribe existed continuously as a community and with
political authority, and there was insufficient evidence, in fact, key
gaps of evidence, that was not corrected in the final recognition ei-
ther as to the Eastern Pequots or the Paucatuck Easterns or the
Schaghticokes.

In the case of the Schaghticokes, the Department did one other
thing that I think is unprecedented and ought to be brought to the
committee’s attention. It combined two groups, as it did with the
Eastern Pequots and the Paucatuck Easterns, but did not consider
the petition of one of those groups. So that if you go down this
slope, and it is an extraordinarily slippery slope, at some point the
BIA could simply bring into a petitioning group anyone that it
wanted to do and say that those individuals or that petitioning
group, regardless of its merits, should be made part of the petition-
ing group.

And so I think on that score and many others we have appealed.
The appeal is a very lengthy and voluminous one, and I don’t want
to exhaust the time or the patience of this committee.

Mr. SHAYS. In your testimony you say that the BIA has changed
its view on the significance of State recognition four times in the
past 2 years. Would you describe for the committee how the BIA
has assessed the evidentiary weight of tribal designation and res-
ervation lands under State law?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. The existence of reservations under State law
has been one of the factors that the BIA considered in applying
State recognition to overcome the gaps of evidence. The fact is, as
you well know, Mr. Chairman, State recognition of a reservation
and Federal recognition of a tribe are like apples and oranges; all
they have in common is the use of the word recognition; and the
meaning of definition for those two purposes is completely dif-
ferent.
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So the answer is that State recognition has been morphed in the
BIA’s use of it over this period of years to overcome gaps of evi-
dence, in some cases to apply to the recognition of a reservation,
in other cases to benefits that are provided to individuals who live
on the reservation, in other cases to the fact that overseers had
dealings with members or decendents of the tribe over some period
of time. The State recognition factor has been a moving target.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me say that a previous administrator of BIA sec-
retary, Mr. Gover, he had a close relationship with the Golden Hill
Paugussetts, who was a petitioning tribe in the fourth congres-
sional district. They also have huge land claims. Those land claims
become more valid if they are federally recognized. That is a con-
cern that we have. Maybe not valid enough, but more valid. And
he said he would not in any way decide on the Golden Hill
Paugussetts, but he made a decision in another State that State
recognition would be a factor in Federal recognition.

Now, let me just tell you the impact of what that decision had
on the Golden Hill Paugussetts, and then I want a comment from
you. They are State recognized, but the State recognizes a reserva-
tion. There may be a house on that reservation, there may be some
residents, or there may not be. They still recognize that State
tribe’s reservation. And what Mr. Gover basically did was give a
huge benefit to a tribe that he was recognizing, because, in fact,
they could be State recognized, have no political, social, or eco-
nomic continuity pre-colonial times, and then that is the back door
in which they then get Federal recognition.

Is there anything that I have said that you would disagree with?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. I don’t disagree at all with the point that you

are making, and I think it is a very, very important and valid one,
that the use of State recognition in a case that seems to be unre-
lated may establish a precedent that then can be expanded, and it
has been vastly expanded, in other cases. And I think that point
is very well taken.

You know, part of the problem here, Mr. Chairman, is that this
agency is legally rudderless. And I respect the suggestions that
have been made or the changes that have been made and enumer-
ated for the committee in some of the procedures, but they are a
little bit like rearranging the chairs on the deck when the ship
needs to be reconstructed. And Mr. Devaney makes a very impor-
tant point which I think comes back to the one you have just made,
and that is that this agency does not have the basic rules that the
FCC or the FTC or the SEC would have and would rigorously fol-
low: the logging of contacts, the transparency of correspondence,
the registration of lobbyists, the prohibition against revolving door
employment.

Those kinds of requirements are a first basic minimal tier of re-
quirements that are necessary for integrity in the decisionmaking
process. There is a second tier which deals with the standards and
the criteria that should be statutory. But your point comes back to
the sort of ad hoc, make it up as we go along, let us make a deal,
nature of many of the decisions that are made without anticipating
what the long-run precedent-making consequences will be.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00064 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



61

I have three more questions, Mrs. Johnson, and then I am going
to recognize you.

I would like, Ms. Rosier, to ask you the following question. Do
you believe that it is an absolute requirement that a Indian tribe
demonstrate social and economic and political continuity pre-colo-
nial times, in other words, they never stopped? Do you believe that
is a requirement in recognition?

Ms. ROSIER. I believe the requirement and recommendation as
outlined in 25 C.F.R. Part 83 is that all seven mandatory criteria
must be met, and the burden of proof is that it is the reasonable
likelihood of the validity of the facts. That is my job and the staff’s
job, to ensure that of those seven criteria, this burden of proof has
been met.

Mr. SHAYS. So in this room, if I turned out the light switch for
a little bit of time and then turned it back on, even though you saw
the lights on, that wouldn’t be good enough, correct? The light has
to be on the whole time.

Ms. ROSIER. What we are recognizing at the Department of the
Interior is a continuous political entity as a tribe, and we look at
the community and we look at——

Mr. SHAYS. Without interruption, correct?
Ms. ROSIER. We are looking at continuity.
Mr. SHAYS. Continuity means without interruption, correct?
Ms. ROSIER. We are looking at a continuous relationship.
Mr. SHAYS. Continuous relationship means it never stopped.
Ms. ROSIER. A continuous relationship that meets the seven

mandatory criteria.
Mr. SHAYS. Well, I don’t want you to be evasive here. You are

here to testify before the committee, and the bottom line is doesn’t
the tribe have to prove that they were always a tribe, socially, po-
litically, economically, and that they never stopped being a tribe?
Isn’t that correct?

Ms. ROSIER. Yes, that is correct.
Mr. SHAYS. OK. And do you understand that in the State of Con-

necticut we can recognize a State tribe where they actually had
interruption? Are you aware of that?

Ms. ROSIER. Not specifically, no.
Mr. SHAYS. Well, it is a fact. The fact is that State tribes in Con-

necticut don’t have to show continuity.
Ms. ROSIER. Congress can do that also, too. Congress can recog-

nize a tribe too.
Mr. SHAYS. I understand that, but we are not talking about Con-

gress recognizing a tribe. I am just trying to have you understand
something, because I am under the impression you want to do the
right thing, and the right thing requires that there be continuity.
Mr. Gover made a huge decision that is impacting improperly, and
you heard the testimony from Mr. Blumenthal. The bottom line is
we are telling you in the State of Connecticut we may recognize a
State tribe that doesn’t exist except in land. They may not have po-
litical, social, or economic continuity. There may just be one person
living on that reservation. That doesn’t meet the Federal standard,
but it meets the State standard. And that is what is so outrageous
about Mr. Gover and this Department continuing with the process
of State recognition.
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Just three more questions to you, Mr. Blumenthal.
Would you explain the legal and political significance of Indian

land claims in this process?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, the legal significance is that various of

the tribal groups have made land claims. We are in litigation right
now with the Schaghticokes over 2,100 acres in the Kent area. The
first selectwoman of Kent is here today, and her town is one of the
defendants. So is the Kent School, one of our major utilities, North-
east Utilities, and the State of Connecticut. So we have litigated
with the tribes against land claims that we believe are unfounded,
especially when they have made them against individual property
owners, as the Golden Hill Paugussetts did some years ago, and we
were successful in dismissing them, the State was, in representing
the interests of the landowners when they were brought at that
time.

Certainly, as you have said, those land claims have additional
force and credibility when they are accompanied by recognition or
when they are made by a federally recognized tribe. And in Federal
court, under Federal law, they can have additional legal force be-
cause of the impact of the Non-Intercourse Act on the litigation.

This area is enormously complex, and I apologize to the commit-
tee that I am not able to summarize it in a couple of sentences, but
the answer is these land claims are a big deal, and they become
bigger when there is Federal recognition.

Mr. SHAYS. You could have a circumstance when a tribe is feder-
ally recognized, that it gives more credence to the land claims, and
even though the State of Connecticut has passed legislation no
longer allowing charity gambling, if they are then given Federal
recognition and they have land claims that are valid under the eyes
of the court, then the only recourse to the community is to settle;
and the settlement is clear: they will want land for an Indian gam-
ing facility.

Why did the U.S. District Court in Connecticut enter an order re-
quiring notice of all interested parties before the Schaghticokes or
any other non-Federal party could contact the Department of the
Interior?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, I am grateful for that question. The rea-
son is very simply that we sued the Department of the Interior.
The State of Connecticut sued the Department of the Interior be-
cause we were denied documents—basic materials like the petition
itself—submitted by the Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck Eastern
petitioning groups, and we claimed that there were ex parte con-
tacts, secret meetings, and other correspondence that was being
kept out of the public realm.

Mr. SHAYS. By the Department of the Interior?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Correct.
Mr. SHAYS. Why is that happening?
Ms. ROSIER. Actually, in the Schaghticoke situation, we worked

quite well with Mr. Blumenthal, and the interested parties in that
situation were treated almost similar to the petitioners; everybody
had equal access, petitioners and interested parties shared docu-
ments directly with one another.

I was not at the Department at that time, but I know right now,
and we continue, and the regulations have always had the attorney
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general and the Governor as interested parties, so that is how we
operate.

Mr. SHAYS. Has the cooperation gotten better, Mr. Blumenthal?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. In fairness to Ms. Rosier, the court orders en-

tered in the Schaghticoke and Eastern Pequot cases followed our
legal action. She may not have been there when we took that ac-
tion to compel the kinds of scheduling orders and other coopera-
tion, which has proceeded now; we are interested parties.

Mr. SHAYS. So your bottom line is that has been corrected, but
it took a court order to do it, and it preceded your time, I gather.

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. And it goes back, I think, to the point that Mr.
Devaney was making about the APA process. We have been obliged
to go to court to enforce the APA process. We sought these docu-
ments under the Freedom of Information Act. The sovereign State
of Connecticut had to go to court under the Freedom of Information
Act to obtain petitions so that we would be adequately informed
about what would happen within our own boundaries.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me just take the last question, and that is what
would be the significance of putting the recognition criteria into
statute, as opposed to leaving them as purely regulatory standards?
I will ask both of you.

Ms. Rosier, what would be the significance of that?
Ms. ROSIER. Without seeing language right in front of me, I don’t

think that there would be much change in how we continue to do
Federal recognition.

Mr. SHAYS. Basically, what we are trying to do is codify.
And, Mr. Blumenthal, what would be the value of that?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, let me state the obvious. It would give

those criterion standards the full force of congressional support. It
would define them clearly, unequivocally, and irrevocably, so that,
for example, the Department of the Interior could not disregard
them, as it does now in many instances, skirt or subvert them; and
it would also eliminate any possibility of rulemaking changes in
those regulations, which emanate, by the way, from 30 years of
precedent beginning with U.S. Supreme Court cases that first ar-
ticulated them.

So we would contend that right now they have the force of law,
but it would make sure that legal action brought based on them
would have even greater force than it does now when we are
obliged to do so. And so I think it would send a very strong and
important message.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
Mrs. Johnson, thank you for your patience. And let me say that

the chairman welcomed you to this hearing and has asked unani-
mous consent, so you are a full participant. Welcome. It is wonder-
ful to have you here.

Mrs. JOHNSON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. And thank
you very much for the thoroughness of your questions and, to Mr.
Blumenthal, for the thoroughness of his testimony. And I thank the
Department for being with us today too. This is an extremely im-
portant matter. If Mr. Blumenthal’s comments about being in liti-
gation over 2,100 acres doesn’t grab your attention, let me tell you
that many of the people who live on those acres have tilled those
acres for more than 150 years, and they are being told now by your
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decision that they belong to someone else, who may or may not
have tilled them before or after, where there is no continuity of ex-
istence. This is an extremely serious matter in the part of the coun-
try that is far older in its settlement roots than any other part of
the country. So the implications of recognition decisions in New
England, and particularly in Connecticut, are far different from the
implications of those decisions in the West, a younger part of the
country, a more open part of the country, and a part of the country
where reservations became part of the very early history of those
States.

So I want to ask you a couple of sets of questions. First of all,
the Department of the Interior is responsible for our most impor-
tant programs that encourage historic preservation, are you not?
The historic preservation tax credit and things like that.

Ms. ROSIER. We have historic preservation activities at the De-
partment.

Mrs. JOHNSON. Yes. And I have worked through your Depart-
ment and got many very important buildings and areas preserved
through working with your Department. The criteria for historic
preservation is that a building or a site must be of historic signifi-
cance. For instance, you have helped us preserve the early iron
mines out in this very part of the State, one Beckley furnace right
in Connecticut. So you have been, as an agency, interested in the
preservation of the history of America through the homes of famous
people and the sites of historic importance economically and politi-
cally in terms of wars and battlegrounds and so on.

The definition of historic preservation and the criteria for what
is worthy of historic preservation is entirely different than the cri-
teria for tribal recognition, would you not agree with that?

Ms. ROSIER. Yes, it is entirely different.
Mrs. JOHNSON. The State reservation criteria is a historic preser-

vation criteria, it is not a tribal recognition criteria.
Ms. ROSIER. For tribal recognition, actually, for the first element,

83.7(a), State recognition is explicitly stated for evidence.
Mrs. JOHNSON. Right. But what I am saying is that the existence

of a reservation is a historic preservation type decision, it is not a
tribal recognition decision, and it doesn’t meet tribal recognition
criteria, and that is why you are using that now, when you can’t
demonstrate continuous political continuity and you can’t meet the
other important criteria that are associated with continuity of trib-
al existence and continuity of influence, is a real travesty of both
the concept of historic preservation and of the underlying demand
of the recognition process.

I just wanted to point that out and put that clearly on the record.
The Department of the Interior knows the difference and they are
mixing that difference in the tribal recognition process, and that
mixing is going to have an extraordinary impact on the lives of mil-
lions of citizens in the district that I represent and other members
of the congressional delegation from both parties represent, and
that is why our attorney general is so extremely concerned with
your actions.

The tribes are not allowed to take land once they have been rec-
ognized, but they lien property. Are you familiar with that process?
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Ms. ROSIER. I don’t know what you mean by tribes are not al-
lowed to take land once they are recognized.

Mrs. JOHNSON. Well, I am told that they can’t just take land,
they have to buy it. Then they can take it into their reservation.
That they can’t just expand their reservation arbitrarily.

Ms. ROSIER. When a tribe acquires new land in a trust——
Mrs. JOHNSON. But they have to buy it, correct?
Ms. ROSIER. Well, it is fee to trust, yes.
Mrs. JOHNSON. That is right. And so I was assured, don’t worry

about this recognition; they would have to buy any land they want
to expand. You don’t understand. They put a lien on it because
they claim it. You can’t sell the property. The town can’t fund its
schools, because our schools are funded through local property
taxes, primarily. Elderly people can’t sell their property and use
the money to support themselves. Small businesses can’t sell their
property and move to a larger site. So it paralyzes the life of the
community and the economic base necessary to support public edu-
cation, the repair of roads and bridges, and all the other things
that local governments do.

So this isn’t just about the one decision. It is about the fallout,
it is about the power. The attorney general has talked about the
impact on the suits around the 2,100—was it 1,000 acres or 100
acres?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. 2,100.
Mrs. JOHNSON. So the Department needs to look at this liening

issue. And you need to begin to make some very clear rules about
that kind of activity. If we give recognition, we have to be clear
about what it is for and we have to be clear about prohibiting prac-
tices that are the equivalent of forcing purchase because they para-
lyze a community. And that is our obligation if we are going to rec-
ognize. So there are some additional issues that the Department of
the Interior needs to look at and needs to take a stand on, and if
we need to clarify the law, we will do that. I am told we don’t need
to clarify the law, but I don’t see exactly how that is true. I hope
you will begin to take into account the unique consequences of rec-
ognition in the densely populated eastern States of the country,
and to understand how using a teeny tiny web to get to that defini-
tion is not right.

Now, I understand that there are two petitioning groups, and
you responded to the petition of one but not the petition of the
other. Are you aware that now one group of Schaghticokes is suing
the other group of Schaghticokes?

Ms. ROSIER. Well, they have appealed the decision to the Interior
Board of Indian Appeals.

Mrs. JOHNSON. No. This is in addition. They are suing the other
part of the tribe for not recognizing the tribe’s interest and for tak-
ing the interests of others, that is, the big money-backers, to under-
mine the tribe’s interest. Are you aware of that?

Ms. ROSIER. I was not aware of that.
Mrs. JOHNSON. Well, I will send you those materials, and I want

your experts to notice that. I want them to stop papering over this
disagreement amongst the ‘‘members of the tribe,’’ because it is by
overwriting those disagreements, by ignoring what people are say-
ing about the tribe, or who are the tribal members or its continuity,
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that you can override your own criteria about continuity. So one
subversion or distortion of a piece of evidence is leading to a ladder
of distortion that is leading to a decision that is extremely destruc-
tive of the public interest.

You will hear in the testimony of the panel that follows the ex-
tremely negative consequences that will follow from this recogni-
tion, because this isn’t a recognition about tribal history. This is
about casinos; it is about big, big money; it is about gambling. It
is a David and Goliath battle, and David is losing. Big money is
winning. And you are not looking at your system to see whether
that is true.

And I appreciate the hard work of our attorney general and of
the local people. I am very glad that Lori Shishel is here, I didn’t
realize she was going to be down here. Oh, there she is. She has
come down before to testify on this issue. It has taken us a long
time to get attention to it. Our Senators in the Senate, where you
have a little different set of rules, have brought it to the floor to
get more attention to it. We will continue to do that, but you have
a variety of first selectmen and mayors and others today who for
years at the local level have studied this, and I hope you will listen
to the facts that they have and make sure that in the review, as
you respond to the appeal, that you have an open mind for what
your top people in Washington did not pay attention to, because,
in the end, the law is about all of us.

So I appreciate your being here, and I appreciate the time of the
attorney general and his leadership on this issue, and the acumen
with which he and his staff have pursued every avenue, and I par-
ticularly appreciate the local first selectmen, selectwomen, and
mayors for the testimony they are going to give; and I am not going
to try to summarize it because it will be very fresh from their
mouths, but it is very powerful. And I think the Department has
to look at this issue of liening, because it completely undermines
and circumvents aspects of our laws and of our concept of recogni-
tion in a modern world. So thank you very much. I look forward
to working with you on this issue.

And thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your indulgence.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
I am going to have two questions after you, Mr. Ose, to the IG,

and then we will get to the next panel. But you have the floor.
Mr. OSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to followup on something that Congresswoman Johnson

brought up. I am not familiar with this and, Ms. Rosier, I guess
it would be directed at you. If a tribe is established, they have trust
lands, then they seek to add to their holdings, they can go out and
buy in fee property adjacent thereto and then apply to have that
property taken into trust status, is that correct?

Ms. ROSIER. Yes, they can apply to have that property taken into
trust status.

Mr. OSE. The aspect that Mrs. Johnson mentioned that intrigues
me is this issue of placing a lien on properties that a tribe may
wish to take into trust. Does that happen?

Ms. ROSIER. I am a little unfamiliar with that, and I would have
to——

Mr. OSE. A little or completely?
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Ms. ROSIER. I am unfamiliar with that. I would have to get back
to you on that matter.

Mr. OSE. Mr. Blumenthal, do you know anything about that?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Could you repeat the question, please?
Mr. OSE. The question relates to a tribe’s interest in taking land

into trust prior to fee ownership. Mrs. Johnson indicated that they
were placing liens, perhaps, on adjacent properties, thereby encum-
bering those properties in terms of the interests of the adjacent
landowner. Does that occur under current BIA regulation or law?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, it has occurred in the State of Connecti-
cut, I suspect elsewhere in the country too, done by petitioning
groups at various stages of the recognition process. For
example——

Mr. OSE. That is what I want to examine. Let us say I own a
piece of property in Sacramento, CA, and a tribe seeks to establish
aboriginal claim to a certain piece of property right next door. They
can establish their claim, perfect it through the BIA, establish their
reservation, then turn around and file a petition saying that the
property next door is also aboriginal in nature and thereby encum-
ber my property?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. I am not sure that they could simply take the
property. They would need to present evidence that it was in fact
aboriginal. Under some circumstances if they were recognized as a
tribe and could meet the criteria under a Federal law called the
Non-Intercourse Act, they could take title to that property. The
Non-Intercourse Act, as you may know, says essentially that a fed-
erally recognized tribe can’t sell or divest itself or transfer property
without the approval of the Federal Government, and so if there
were no Federal approval and there had been a transfer at some
point, and that fact could be established, the answer to your ques-
tion, I believe, is yes, that it could take title to that property. And,
at the very least, what many of these groups have done is to en-
cumber, place liens on property, and thereby interfere with the nor-
mal lives of landowners in the way that Congresswoman Johnson
has described.

Mr. OSE. This is what I want to come at, because a fundamental
piece of our history is respect for private property rights. Are you
telling me that the law, as written today, allows a third party, in
this case Indians, to waltz down to the county recorder and put a
lien on my property without anything more than a claim, some-
body’s oral history?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, if I may answer the question this way,
sir. Claims can be asserted in court by anyone. The courthouse
doors are open, and liens may be placed and encumbrances by any-
one with an interest. We went to court back in the mid-1990’s
when those claims were placed on property and succeeded in hav-
ing them dismissed. So claims can be made, but obviously they can
be refuted and they can be dismissed, whether they are made by
petitioning tribes or a tradesman who has a claim for work that he
says he has done on your property, which is typically how a lot of
them result.

Mr. OSE. That one I understand. I can figure that part out. But
it is just the distant third-party waltzes down to the county re-
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corder and slaps a lien on my property, I have to tell you I react
very negatively to that, having come out of the real estate business.

Mrs. JOHNSON. If the gentleman would yield.
Mr. OSE. I would be happy to yield.
Mrs. JOHNSON. The very first time this tribe came to see me,

which was many years ago, I can’t quite remember how many, but
they showed a map. And it may be that the first selectwoman of
Kent can clarify this more than my memory over that many years.
They laid claim to all the land in five towns. Now, in this part of
the State these are rather large land-mass towns because Connecti-
cut eliminated our counties’ government many years ago and
merged a lot of little towns into big towns, so this is a lot of land
mass. And they said that is really what we are entitled to, but we
aren’t going to exert all those claims.

Well, in another part of the State they did try to lien all the
properties in that area to put pressure on the recognition process,
and we had to go to court. Now they are starting to do that, and
it has had a very chilling effect on the real estate market; values
have already suffered an impact. And others know more about that
than I. I only know it from anecdotal evidence of people walking
up to me and say, you know, I was going to sell my house for this,
and as soon as the recognition process took place, this happened,
and now this is happening.

So whether they stand up in court isn’t the whole issue. It is true
we have worked hard not to allow them to stand up. Whether this
group we would be able to step back on it or not, I don’t know; each
one is a different case. But, in the meantime, what it does to the
ability of that town to raise the resources they need to educate
their children, which is the biggest cost in these town budgets, or
maintain their roads, or do anything else—they are very interested
in land preservation, these towns—all those things, it cripples
them; and it is not fair from the point of view of individual prop-
erty rights.

So we need to clean up our act here in Washington. We need to
do all those things Attorney General Blumenthal mentioned about
transparency and cleaning up the process, but then we need to
have criteria everybody knows, understands, and agrees to.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me make sure Mr. Ose gets his time back. We
need to move the panel.

Mr. OSE. We have individuals coming forward, seeking tribal sta-
tus. I understand that. I understand that same group coming for-
ward, saying this is our aboriginal territory, and we want to estab-
lish trust lands here. But in that process, if the group comes for-
ward and says this is our aboriginal territory, and we want to es-
tablish trust grounds somewhere in that, does the existing law
allow the filing of a recordable lien on every single piece within
that aboriginal range? I have to tell you, if that is the case, if that
is the law, we are going to have a second revolution, because you
are not coming to my house or my property and taking it on the
basis of some speculative aboriginal claim. Now, you need to tell
me whether or not that is the way the law is written today.

Mr. Blumenthal, you are an AG, you tell me.
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, I will give you my answer as the attor-

ney general of the State of Connecticut. We have actively opposed

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00072 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



69

those claims. We believe they are unfounded. We have successfully
defeated them, and we believe that the law is on our side and fac-
tually we have the merits. But the claims are made, and the claims
themselves can often be extraordinarily damaging. I just want to
emphasize here, to finish the answer, the point that both Congress-
man Johnson and Congressman Shays made. In many instances,
innocent property owners have been taken hostage to bring pres-
sure to bear on you, on them, on other elected officials, and the
pressure simply hasn’t worked; the tactics have failed, but the law
is there. And any of these groups have rights, and those rights
have to be respected. The problem is the misuse of the process by
certain groups.

Mr. OSE. So, Ms. Rosier, what does Interior or the Assistant Sec-
retary for Indian Affairs do to prevent the types of situations that
Mrs. Johnson has highlighted occurring in her district and which
I can tell you if ever occur in my district will cause a problem?

Ms. ROSIER. We try to work with entities, State and local govern-
ments, with tribes and petitioners; we try to bring parties together.
Connecticut, for whatever reason, just has been an example of
where State and recognized tribes and petitioners have not worked
well together. We have other situations where we have been able
to bring groups together and try to bring parties who don’t nor-
mally see eye-to-eye, try to bring them together and work together.

Mr. SHAYS. If the gentleman would yield, I can explain why that
happens.

Mr. OSE. Yes.
Mr. SHAYS. This is a real-life story for me. I live in Bridgeport,

CT. I represent that district. In the early 1990’s, the Golden Hill
Paugussetts took a claim against all the property in Ridgefield, in
Fairfield, and so on. I live in a house that is claimed by the Golden
Hill Paugussetts, and I think it is still a decision pending. Judge
Dorsey wants to know if you all are going to recognize them as a
Federal tribe.

Is that correct, Mr. Blumenthal?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. That is correct, Congressman Shays. Although

we succeeded in State court in having those claims dismissed, they
are still pending in Federal court. The Federal claims do involve,
I think, 20 acres in Downtown Bridgeport. I was unaware that it
included your house. But certainly the claim is a wise one because
your house is a beautiful one and they have obviously exercised
sound judgment.

Mr. SHAYS. Well, it may have been it was just the State, but
what they did do, though, is they came to my office and said we
will have these claims disappear; all you have to do is submit a bill
before Congress giving us Federal recognition. That is what they
did. And then when that chief left, his brother came and did the
same thing; and then when he was done, the financial backer came
and said the claims—and at that time I didn’t own the property in
Bridgeport, but I represented the district. So it is one mess.

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Can I just interrupt? And I really apologize,
Mr. Chairman, but I want to make clear whom we are talking
about here, because we are not talking about the Eastern Pequots
and we are not talking about the Schaghticokes. I believe that you
are referring to the Golden Hill Paugussetts.
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Mr. SHAYS. Correct.
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. And I want to just correct one point that Ms.

Rosier made, because she said there is a history of hostility or con-
flict, whatever word you used; I apologize, I don’t remember ex-
actly. We actually have very cooperative and good relationships
with the tribes, two of them, that have been federally recognized.
I want to emphasize—and this point may be one of the most impor-
tant that I make all morning—we never opposed the Mohegan rec-
ognition in the way that we have the Schaghticokes or the Eastern
Pequots. We never appealed that recognition decision, because it
was right on the merits, on the law and the facts. And there is not
a necessity for this kind of disagreement. I think it has to do with
the way this process has been broken and shows how it needs to
be fixed. I think it is a disservice to the relationship between
States and tribes because it aggravates those disagreements.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me just quickly ask two questions to the inspec-
tor general.

On page 2 of your testimony you say you found pressure had
been exerted by political decisionmakers in the OFA—Office of Fed-
eral Acknowledgment—team members responsible for making the
acknowledgment recommendations on the Connecticut Eastern
Pequot petition. What kind of pressure?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Congressman, as I recall, there was an awful
lot of harassment going on at the end of the administration. Some
of these team members were being told they had to do certain
things they weren’t comfortable doing. The delegations were being
rushed to judgment at the end of the administration. This was per-
haps a week before inauguration. So there was an awful lot of pres-
sure being put on these OFA team members.

And I might say these are, for the most part, very honorable peo-
ple that work in this office. From my perspective, they seem to be
caught in this sort of perfect storm of emotion, politics, and big
money. And I think they do a good job, but there is an awful lot
swirling around them.

Mr. SHAYS. Well, it is important that be made part of the record.
Would you describe the elements and operation of your whistle-

blower protection program? Why didn’t the Department of the Inte-
rior have such a program before?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. That is my office’s program. I don’t know why
the inspector general before me didn’t have it, but I certainly be-
lieve that people who come forward and want to tell the inspector
general something should be free from reprisal. And I do my very
best in each and every case. If I hear that, I step forward and ad-
dress that with the Assistant Secretary or, if I have to, go right to
the Secretary about it.

Mr. SHAYS. Just two questions for you, Ms. Rosier. And I apolo-
gize, I have been calling you Rossier, and it is Rosier, correct?

Ms. ROSIER. It’s Rosier.
Mr. SHAYS. Rosier? OK.
How do you respond to the argument that the Department faces

an inherent conflict of interest and the BIA helps petitioners meet
recognition criteria through technical assistance and other means,
sits as the judge of what amounts to its own work produce, then
acts as a regulator of the tribes?
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Ms. ROSIER. One example of how the Federal family has tried to
separate that conflict of interest is potential petitioners who are
seeking Federal funding for putting together petitions, they go to
the administration for Native Americans, which is outside of the
Department of the Interior. So we don’t provide any funding for the
petitions; we give them research, technical assistance.

Mr. SHAYS. But you are basically telling them how they can be-
come a tribe through helping them, and then you basically are
passing judgment on whether they meet the criteria. Isn’t that a
bit of a conflict? It is nothing you established, but isn’t that process
a conflict?

Ms. ROSIER. I think our process is very rigorous and thorough.
Since we have had this process, we have acknowledged 15 groups.

Mr. SHAYS. That is not what I am really asking, though. If you
care not to respond to it, that is fine. But I am asking whether this
process, where you are actually helping them become a tribe
through assistance, and then you are passing judgment on whether
they meet the standard, is that not a potential conflict of interest?

Ms. ROSIER. We provide technical assistance to tribes every sin-
gle day on a number of matters.

Mr. SHAYS. But the difference is you are giving them something
that in Connecticut makes them a billion dollar operation: you are
giving them sovereignty, you are passing judgment on whether
they meet the test, and you are helping them meet the test.

So, Mr. Blumenthal, how would you respond to that?
Mr. BLUMENTHAL. Well, as I have said in my testimony, I do be-

lieve there is an inherent conflict of interest. It is not the result
of some purposeful individual corruption, but it is inherent in the
assignment of two conflicting tasks to a single agency, and then
having that agency be beyond the normal rules of accountability
and transparency that would apply to an independent agency.

Mr. SHAYS. We wrote the law. You didn’t write the law, but it
strikes me as a tremendous conflict.

This is the last question, Ms. Rosier. How and when do you find
what financial interests are supporting recognition petitioners?
Would you like to know sooner? Would you like to be able to com-
pel disclosure of all financial interests behind a petition?

Ms. ROSIER. Currently, right now, financial disclosure is not part
of the Federal recognition process. As I have discussed, it is an an-
thropological history and genealogical look at the entity. So, as of
right now we do not look at financial information unless it has
been voluntarily disclosed.

As for in the future, whether we would seek language or we
could be supportive of language that asks for financial disclosure,
I could not give official comment on that, but I will take that back
to the Department.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
Is there anything that you all maybe spent last night thinking

about that we needed to ask that you want to put on the record?
Is there anything you don’t want to put on the record that we
should have asked?

Mr. BLUMENTHAL. If I may take that invitation, Mr. Chairman.
I didn’t start thinking about this last night, I have thought about
it for a long time, as you have too. But it follows the question that
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you just raised. If this committee does nothing more than impose
rules of disclosure, it will have made a tremendous contribution.
And those rules of disclosure wouldn’t be novel or unprecedented.
They would simply require the kinds of information that are abso-
lutely mandatory when dealing with other independent agencies
showing the kinds of financial details that are elemental and pro-
foundly significant to this process.

You will hear, later, testimony about numbers of dollars that
have been invested by individual financial backers. That informa-
tion comes from disclosures they have made themselves, not re-
quired by any government agency. And it doesn’t indicate second
and third and fourth levels of information about where they ob-
tained that money, including other financial investors, and it
doesn’t relate to lobbyists. And so going back to Mr. Devaney’s
point, I think there, at the very least, ought to be clear, irrefutable
consensus that this kind of information, whether you call it reg-
istration or disclosure, clearly should be required.

Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Delaney, anything we need to put on the record
that isn’t put on the record? Anything you need to point out before
we go to our next panel?

Mr. DELANEY. No, sir.
Mr. SHAYS. Ms. Rosier, any comments?
Ms. ROSIER. No, sir.
Mr. SHAYS. We thank all three panelists for their cooperation. It

has been a longer morning, but I think we have learned a lot.
Thank you so much.

At this time, we will call Ms. Marcia Flowers, invite her to come
and testify. I would also invite Mark Sebastian to come and be
sworn in, as well, in case you want to respond to any question,
even though you don’t have a statement. I think that might make
sense, if you would like to.

If you would both stand, we will swear you in. And welcome to
both of you.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. SHAYS. I will note for the record that both of our witnesses

have responded in the affirmative.
We may not have as many questions. I want you to feel, Chair-

man Flowers—and, Mr. Sebastian, you were former chairman, is
that correct? We are going to allow you to make your testimony,
and feel free to go over the 5-minute limit. I want to make sure
that you put on the record everything you want to put on the
record. And let us just see how that mic picks you up. If you would
lower it a little bit. Just tap it, I just want to see if it is on. No,
it is not on. OK.

Welcome. Thank you for being here. I want to say, again, you are
here, and we invited another tribe who decided not to be here. I
wish they followed your good example.

STATEMENT OF MARCIA FLOWERS, CHAIRWOMAN, TRIBAL
COUNCIL, HISTORICAL EASTERN PEQUOT TRIBAL NATION,
ACCOMPANIED BY MARK SEBASTIAN, FORMER CHAIRMAN

Ms. FLOWERS. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members
of the committee, and especially our Congressman from Connecti-
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cut, Chris Shays, for inviting us to testify today on behalf of our
tribe, the Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation.

Before I begin, I would like to just, for the record, the Eastern
Pequot Tribal Nation has never filed a land claim. Another issue
that I have to bring up before I begin, the attorney general for the
State of Connecticut made a comment that the State did not appeal
the Mohegan decision. I have to point out, and I and Chairman
Brown speak of this often, the Mohegan tribe was detribalized in
the 1700’s, and when the tribes came back together in the 1970’s
under the Connecticut Indian Affairs Commission, all the five
tribes were in the five State recognized tribes. And I have to make
that point because the Eastern Pequot tribe never was detribalized.
And thank you for that statement.

I am here today to tell you about one tribe’s experience with the
recognition process. Our opponents try to keep the focus on casinos
and their impact, but my tribe is suffering a different impact: the
impact of unwarranted delays in the process. I don’t think anyone
here will claim the recognition process is working properly. When
the regulations were implemented in 1978, the process was to oper-
ate within 3 to 5 years. The Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation filed its
original letter of intent to seek recognition in 1978, 26 years ago.
We have traveled the path to recognition through five Presidential
administrations, seven Secretaries of the Interior, nine Assistant
Secretaries of the Interior for Indian Affairs, four State Governors,
and four State attorneys general. We have followed every step pre-
scribed by the regulations, and we are still not done yet.

In your invitation to me to address this committee, you asked
about transparency. This process could not have been more trans-
parent. Just look at our procedural history. After 3 years of active
review by the Bureau of Acknowledgment and Research, in March
2000, our petition received a positive preliminary finding.

Mr. Chairman, I must note, to clear for the record, that on the
Web site the tribe noticed that it was noted that we received a neg-
ative preliminary finding. This is incorrect. The Eastern Pequots’
petition received a preliminary positive and a positive on final, and
we would like that corrected. Thank you.

Mr. SHAYS. On the Web page of? I may have missed it. You said
on the Web page. On the committee’s Web page?

Ms. FLOWERS. Noted for this hearing on the resource.
Mr. SHAYS. OK. Thank you.
Ms. FLOWERS. Yes.
And I brought a copy of the Federal Register of our final deter-

mination. It does go over that. And I think Mark has a copy.
In a detailed 152-page decision of over 500 pages of exhibits,

BAR provided its analysis of our petition strengths and weak-
nesses. The regulations allow for a comment period for tribes and
all interested parties to respond to the preliminary finding. In our
case, the usual 6-month period was extended to 18 months. That
was because of a request filed by the Connecticut attorney general
and his demands through a Freedom of Information Act lawsuit.
During the comment period, the States and towns had open access
to the BAR staff and participated in a 2-day marathon technical as-
sistance hearing. They grilled the staff about the process, our evi-
dence, the BAR’s view of the evidence, and the grounds for the pre-
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liminary decision. Without exception, they received every document
they requested. Nothing has been hidden.

The tribe ultimately submitted 566 pages of additional material
and nine boxes of exhibits in response to BAR’s comments. The at-
torney general and towns submitted a total of 879 pages of mate-
rial.

After months of analyzing this information, BAR issued a posi-
tive final determination in 2002. We are the only tribe to receive
a positive preliminary and a positive final decision in the State of
Connecticut. As allowed by the regulations, the Connecticut attor-
ney general appealed to the Interior Board of Indian Appeals. All
briefs in the appeal were completed in March 2003, and after 13
months we are still waiting for a judge to be assigned to our case.

You asked about integrity. Our opponents claim we have used in-
appropriate political influence in the recognition process. The East-
ern Pequot Tribal Nation employs one lobbying firm in Washing-
ton, DC, whose principal role is to track legislation that might af-
fect us. We pay our lobbyist $120,000 per year. We began our rela-
tionship with this firm during the Clinton administration, and it
continues today under the Bush administration. At no time have
we ever asked any lobbyist to try to influence the outcome of any
decision regarding recognition, and at no time has any lobbyist rep-
resented to us that they have any ability to do so.

We have met approximately once each year with the Connecticut
delegation and other leaders in Washington, such as Senator
Inouye and Campbell. These meetings have been arranged well in
advance and appear in public records. The only meeting we have
had with any Department of the Interior official in the past 2 years
was with then Assistant Secretary McCaleb, at his invitation, not
ours. At no time during any of these meetings have we asked any
elected or appointed official to influence the outcome of any rec-
ognition decision.

Political influence is at work here, but it is not being exercised
by our tribe. Rather, incredible influence is being brought to bear
by a small group of people whose real goal is to stop Indian gaming
in Connecticut. Mr. Benedict, for example, is representing a group
called Connecticut Alliance Against Casino Expansion. He has
raised millions of dollars and stages frequent public rallies against
casinos. In fact, Mr. Benedict himself, I believe, is a registered lob-
byist. Elected officials in our State, paid by taxpayers’ dollars, have
appeared regularly at his rallies, claiming they oppose recognition
of our tribe, but really what they oppose is gaming. Elected officials
here in Washington have used their political influence and tax-
payers’ dollars to introduce legislation that would halt recognition
decisions and stop us, even though we have faithfully followed the
regulations for 26 years. A recent example is the Connecticut attor-
ney general’s unscheduled ex parte meeting with the Secretary of
the Interior on March 17th, where he specifically asked her to stop
recognizing tribes.

Our opponents have tried to delay us every step of the way. They
attack our recognition decision, most often using three arguments:
the so-called merger of two tribes, the claim that the Assistant Sec-
retary overruled his staff’s recommendation, and the supposed reli-
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ance on State recognition used by the BAR in reaching our deci-
sion.

On the first issue, this is what the final determination actually
said, ‘‘This determination does not merge two tribes, but deter-
mines that a single tribe exists which is represented by two peti-
tioners.’’

Regarding the second issue, the staff at the BAR simply has no
decisionmaking authority in this process. The Assistant Secretary
makes the decisions to issue a positive preliminary decision. In our
case, Mr. Gover’s decision in the Clinton administration was ulti-
mately confirmed in the positive final determination in the Bush
administration. I am sure each of you has on occasion disagreed
with your staff.

Third, again quoting from the decision: ‘‘The continuous State
recognition is not a substitute for direct evidence. Instead, this
longstanding State relationship and reservation are additional evi-
dence which, when added to the existing evidence’’—and I will
stress that, the existing evidence, which we submitted—‘‘dem-
onstrates that the criteria are met at specific periods in time.’’

You asked about accountability. We have had to account for
every day of our history since 1614, to the BIA and the interested
parties. We have provided tens of thousands of pages of informa-
tion documenting our petition. Many of these documents came right
out of the State archives and files. The interested parties received
each piece of our evidence and had the right to comment on them.
All that material, including the comments, has been reviewed and
analyzed by a team of highly qualified professionals to reach a final
decision of almost 200 pages detailing the evidence that dem-
onstrates our tribe meets the seven criteria. We have been account-
able for every professional we have hired and every source of infor-
mation we have used. The very nature of the recognition process
mandates accountability, especially for tribes whose first contact
dates back into the 1600’s.

Unlike many of the western tribes, the eastern tribes never en-
tered into treaties with the United States, so they do not have
automatic access to Federal programs. Instead, they had relation-
ships with the colonies before this country was even formed. The
colony of Connecticut established the Eastern Pequot Reservation
in 1683, and it remains one of the oldest continuously occupied res-
ervations in the country. The State took over the relationship with
our tribe in 1784, and that protected relationship continues to
today. The recognition process adopted in 1978 was designed to
give tribes like ours the opportunity to gain access to Federal, so-
cial, health, and educational programs that were established for
our benefit.

When we started this process in 1978, there was no Indian gam-
ing. The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act was not passed until 1988.

Mr. SHAYS. I am going to let you finish your statement, even
though we are going on. But I want you to read a little faster.

Ms. FLOWERS. OK.
Mr. SHAYS. I don’t usually do that; I usually tell people to slow

down. I want your entire statement. You want to deliver it; I want
it delivered. I want it quicker. Just read a little more quickly.

Ms. FLOWERS. OK.
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The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act was not passed until 1988,
10 years after we first applied for recognition. In 1978, our tribe
had no money, no expertise, and no access to the professionals who
could help us. We did the work ourselves, holding bake sales, car
washes, and selling our crafts to scrape together the money to file
our first petition. We learned quickly that we needed substantial
professional assistance to get through the process.

With the introduction of Indian gaming in Connecticut, and the
opening of the first casino in 1993, the landscape changed com-
pletely. IGRA allowed an investor to get a realistic return on the
very high-risk funds tribes need to hire a team of professionals to
help them with the recognition process. Whether we wanted a ca-
sino or not, we had no other way to find the funding to hire the
best historians, genealogists, anthropologists, and lawyers.

You asked about the cost. Beginning in 1993, our tribe entered
into a series of arrangements with investors who agreed to finance
our recognition efforts in return for future casino management fees
as provided by IGRA. Through 2000, this financing totaled approxi-
mately $5 million. In 2000, we entered into our current develop-
ment agreement with Eastern Capital Development of Southport,
CT, a group of private investors, none of whom have any ties to the
gaming industry.

Mr. SHAYS. But just happen to live in my district.
Ms. FLOWERS. I confirm to you that they do not employ any other

lobbying firms.
To date, they have loaned our tribe about $11 million. Approxi-

mately 70 percent went directly to our effort to meet the recogni-
tion criteria. The professional team includes a set of lawyers to co-
ordinate the research on our petition and ensure regulatory compli-
ance, other lawyers to represent us in court suits filed by the attor-
ney general, and a third group of lawyers to coordinate the attor-
ney general’s IBIA appeal. The team that helped us compile our pe-
tition includes six senior researchers in anthropology, history, and
law—four Ph.D.s, two LLDs—two research assistants, two genealo-
gists, and an archivist. This team has worked continually since
1997 to meet the challenges, requirements, and scope of the rec-
ognition process and accounts for most of the expense.

In all this time, with all their rhetoric, our opponents have not
submitted one shred of evidence that disproves our right to recogni-
tion. Without such evidence to stop our recognition, those who want
to stop us from building a casino have no tactics left other than
delays, confusion, and distortion. Years ago, our opponents received
one piece of advice from their lawyers that they have taken to
heart: the best way to stop a casino and land claims is to stop a
tribe’s recognition; and the best way to stop recognition is to derail
the process. Recognition does not automatically create a casino.
There are many steps along the way where the State’s and towns’
concerns about gaming will be properly addressed. We have to go
through a rigorous approval process before we can even dream
about a casino. We must take land into trust and negotiate a gam-
ing compact, which in our State requires the ratification of the full
legislature. Both of these also mandate extensive public participa-
tion.
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I don’t think a wholesale restructuring of the process needs to
take place. The process is thorough, transparent, and has provi-
sions for adequate accountability. What must happen is that the
BIA must be given additional funding to increase its staff so they
can deal with the tremendous backlog of recognition decisions. The
IBIA needs similar resources to help them deal with the many com-
plicated cases they review.

This committee should not confuse opposition to gaming with the
need to improve the recognition process. Congress should not take
away any tribe’s right to Federal programs to satisfy a small group
of people fundamentally opposed to gaming. After all, the two casi-
nos in Connecticut employ over 20,000 people and pay the State
over $400 million per year.

Many people have complained that this process is not fair. Please
focus on these statistics: since September 2002, when the Connecti-
cut attorney general filed the appeal against our final determina-
tion, 154 decisions have been issued by the Interior Board of Indian
Appeals. Of those 154 cases, 95 were filed after ours. Once again,
95 of the 154 decisions were for cases filed after ours. And we are
still waiting.

Again, thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak to you
today, and I would be happy to answer your questions.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Flowers follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. I want to thank you. Your statement is
pretty comprehensive. I think you make a very strong argument for
your case. I might disagree with a number of points. I do want to
say, though, that I think you have put on the record what you
wanted to put on the record. Is there anything else before we go
to the other panel that we have?

Is there anything, Mr. Sebastian, that you would like to just say
for the record? Not a statement, but any general comments? A
statement would be fine, but not a long statement.

Mr. SEBASTIAN. We have some documents we would like to sub-
mit for the record, a resolution from the National Congress of
American Indians in support of the Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation
and a State of Connecticut General Assembly report from David
Leff, a senior attorney to Honorable John Thompson in regard to
the dispute between the tribe and the ruling that the State of Con-
necticut General Assembly that there was one tribe in 1989.

Mr. SHAYS. Well, we will put those in the record, if you would
like. Any other document for the record?

Mr. SEBASTIAN. And just a list of the cases that were assigned
after our IBIA appeal and that have been resolved.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Let me just suggest this to you so we are fair to you
as well. We are going to go to the next panel, but if you would like
to, after they have testified, if you would like to come up and re-
spond to something you have heard, then we can question you
about that particular issue. So I don’t want you to interpret our
lack of questions as being a lack of respect. We want you to partici-
pate in our process. You said you would like to testify separately,
and we respected that. So what I will do is I will swear in the next
panel. If there is something, after they have made their statements
and we have asked questions, that you want to insert or respond
to what you have heard, then we will question you about that. Does
that seem to fit your need as well?

Ms. FLOWERS. That will be fine.
Mr. SHAYS. That will be our need, because we are going to have

a vote at 2, and we are going to really try to get to this next panel.
Ms. FLOWERS. OK, thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you so much.
At this time, the Chair would recognize our next panel. It is the

Honorable Mark Boughton, mayor, city of Danbury, CT; the Honor-
able Rudy Marconi, first selectman, town of Ridgefield, CT; the
Honorable Nicholas H. Mullane II, first selectman, town of North
Stonington, CT; and Mr. Jeffrey R. Benedict, Connecticut Alliance
Against Casino Expansion.

Gentleman, we will invite you to stay standing and I would like
to swear you in. Raise your right hands.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. SHAYS. Note for the record our witnesses have responded in

the affirmative.
First Selectman, is it Mullane? I want to make sure I am pro-

nouncing your name correctly. Is it Mullane?
Mr. MULLANE. Mullane.
Mr. SHAYS. Mullane. And I want to say to you that we have had

many contacts, and I introduced and spoke well of the two elected
officials closest to the Fourth Congressional District, but I do need
to put on the record you are probably the most knowledgeable of
anyone at the table about these issues; you have been fighting
them for so many years, as I think both Mark and Rudy would
agree. And so you do honor the committee as well, and I should
have certainly recognized your incredible contribution over so many
years. You have been fighting a long and lonely battle, and I think
our two mayors on your right are hoping they don’t have to go
through the same process.

So, with that, Mayor Boughton, welcome.
I am going to ask that your testimonies be 5 minutes. If you trip

over a little bit, we can live with that, but it would be nice if we
could stay within the 5-minute area. Thank you.
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STATEMENTS OF MARK D. BOUGHTON, MAYOR, CITY OF DAN-
BURY, CT; RUDY MARCONI, FIRST SELECTMAN, TOWN OF
RIDGEFIELD, CT; NICHOLAS H. MULLANE II, FIRST SELECT-
MAN, TOWN OF NORTH STONINGTON, CT; AND JEFFREY R.
BENEDICT, CONNECTICUT ALLIANCE AGAINST CASINO EX-
PANSION
Mayor BOUGHTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me just thank

you for inviting us down here to testify today on a very important
issue, and, on a personal note, we have often talked and I don’t
know if you remember that I was your intern, when I was in high
school, in the legislature. You did a great job then; you are doing
a great job down here.

Mr. SHAYS. Well, you did a great job then and you are doing a
great job now.

Mayor BOUGHTON. I learned from the master.
Mr. OSE. Is this for the record?
Mr. SHAYS. This is definitely for the record. He is under oath.
Mayor BOUGHTON. That is right.
In addition, Congressman Simmons and I have worked together

closely when I was in the legislature as well in Connecticut, and
it is ironic that, today, the closing day of the legislature, we are no
longer having this debate regarding Indian recognition in Hartford,
we are now having it here in Washington, DC.

I want to just address one quick comment that Ms. Rosier made
when she was here. It is unfortunate she couldn’t stay, but she
made the comment about how, in other communities in other
States, the Native American tribes and the States and the local
municipalities are working together to address some of those
issues, and I think that really is the underlying fundamental flaw
of this process. It really underscores the challenge that we face, be-
cause, in Connecticut, we are a geographically small region, and
because of that the recognition of a tribe has a much greater im-
pact when you have more tribes in a small region. So we are not
talking about the west or the southwest, where there are literally
hundreds of thousands of acres in various States and it is not a big
deal. In Connecticut it is a big deal because this State, my State
is rapidly approaching the point where we will be four or five sov-
ereign nations in a very tight geographical area that will ulti-
mately run every aspect of our lives: our culture, our politics, our
industry, ultimately our sense of identity of who we are as a com-
munity. And that is really the problem for us, is how do we jux-
tapose the right of the Native American peoples to right a wrong
that they have had over history, along with the huge forces that
are engaged here in the gaming and gambling industry, and, of
course, that is your problem that you have to deal with here.

Briefly, I want to mention just two issues. My testimony is on
the record and everybody has had an opportunity to read it, but
two issues that strike me as being somewhat challenging for all of
us. The first is the issue of curing the deficiencies mentioned again
by Ms. Rosier when she was here earlier in the day. This, to me,
is mind-boggling and baffling the way the process works. And being
an ex-history teacher and somebody who taught high school, the
only way I can really look at this is that it is analogous to giving
a test to a student, in this case recognition. You get back the test
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with a failing grade, you say you didn’t make it, you failed. You
then go give the tribe the answers to the test. They turn the test
back in and they fail again. Then you go to your colleagues, your
fellow teachers and you say, hey, how do I give these people a pass-
ing grade? Tell me how to get there from here.

And that is ultimately what happened within the BIA. And we
know that because of that internal memo that was circulated
throughout the State and ultimately down here. They admit, the
BIA admits this tribe does not meet the seven criteria. And in
other cases of recognition, not meeting those two standards has
been fatal to an application process. Those tribes were not recog-
nized. And so for us to now turn around and do a 180 and say now
you do become a tribe clearly is troubling for all of us. So the proc-
ess in itself is absurd, and this issue of being able to cure the defi-
ciencies, in my estimation, is absurd as well.

I think the other issue that we have to look at is what prompted
the sudden change of heart by the BIA. Why would an organization
ignore the very rules that has promulgated to arrive at a conclu-
sion in its final determination that was different than one that was
articulated in the preliminary determination? And for municipali-
ties, we have to ask the question what is the point of having rules
if we are not going to follow them? The rules become a moving tar-
get. We have talked about transparency today. There is no trans-
parency because we have nothing to look at because the rules
change every time we try to address them. So for my municipality
and other municipalities dealing with this issue, the challenge for
us is that, amongst all the other things we have to deal with, we
now have to deal with a process that is undefined, open-ended, and
in some cases has been in unchartered territories.

The other issue I think that merits discussion a little bit today
is the post-recognition period. In the case of the Eastern Pequots,
we are in a twilight zone, as a previous speaker has mentioned. We
are not quite sure where we are because nobody has ever appealed
the recognition of a tribe before. But the post-recognition of a tribe
that proceeds to open a casino is really where the dollars are gen-
erated. Once the gaming operations have begun, as I mentioned in
my opening comments, that is when life changes as we know it.
And, in Connecticut, because, again, of our small geographic region,
there will be a totally different way of life throughout the State of
Connecticut if these tribes are allowed to go forward and open casi-
nos. So I think it is critical that discussion happen.

I know it is important to talk about people like Fred DeLuca of
Subway Sandwich Shops, or Donald Trump of the recent Appren-
tice fame, or Thomas Wilmot, a New York mall developer who has
bankrolled these tribes, but ultimately it is the fallout of the tribes
that we have to deal with in our municipality; and what do we do
with issues like annexation, that we talked about earlier.

So those are some things that I think we should be discussing
today, and I ask that you consider legislation that would gain con-
trol of this process. We mentioned some thoughts already today.
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Take the seven criteria, make them Federal law so that we don’t
have a moving target any longer, and then certainly ask to help us
participate in the recognition process by making these changes.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Boughton follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
The Chair would now recognize the first selectman of Ridgefield,

Rudy Marconi, who happens to be one of my 600,000 bosses.
Mr. MARCONI. And we represent a lot of people here today collec-

tively. And thank you, Mr. Chairman, for inviting me here today
to submit the following testimony on the Bureau of Indian Affairs
Federal recognition process.

As the first selectman of Ridgefield, CT, a town of 24,000 people,
I sit here today to ask you to consider a reform to the Federal rec-
ognition process. Over the past 2 years, our municipality, along
with many others in the State of Connecticut, has spent consider-
able amounts of money in an effort to be heard in an otherwise bro-
ken process. I ask all of you why? Why isn’t a city or a town noti-
fied and asked to participate in what I thought was an open and
honest process, especially a decision that can have as serious and
as long-term consequences as the BIA’s recognition of the
Schaghticoke Tribal Nation.

State and local governments work diligently to solve problems
such as traffic, housing, education, and other quality of life issues
that seriously impact our budgets. In one unjustified, ill-advised
decision, the BIA has laid the foundation to destroy the quality of
life that we have worked every day to preserve, without even ask-
ing for our thoughts. How can this system be permitted to continue
without a serious overhaul?

In Chairman Davis’ cover letter, he asked that I focus my com-
ments on the integrity, transparency, and accountability of the rec-
ognition determinations. On integrity, there is no integrity in the
system. Call it what you want, unimpaired, sound, honest, moral,
trustworthy. It just doesn’t exist. When the decision was made to
recognize the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation, even though, ‘‘evidence
of political influence and authority is absent or insufficient,’’ and
even though a substantial and important part of its present day so-
cial and political community are not on the current membership
list, the decision lacks integrity.

On transparency, under no circumstances can anyone believe the
Schaghticoke decision to be clear, obvious, or easily understood. At
no time did the petitioner satisfy in total the seven mandatory cri-
teria for recognition that should be enforced and relied on in the
process. Instead, the decision was made to be, ‘‘consistent with the
intent of the acknowledgment regulations.’’ However, the regula-
tions provide that a petitioner shall be denied if there is insuffi-
cient evidence that it meets one or more of the criteria. As a result,
one must conclude that this decision is fraught with confusion and
contradictions.

Accountability, a word that has been used by all of us during
campaigns and promises to the people who elect us. The BIA must
be held accountable for their decisions. As it exists now, they are
accountable to no one. We now, as interested parties, must spend
precious taxpayer dollars to protect our rights and to protect our
quality of life. We must exhaust every appeal and whatever other
legal remedy may exist to prevent the occurrence of another casino
in Connecticut.

In previous testimony, an internal BIA memo has been cited, ‘‘ac-
knowledged the Schaghticoke under the regulations, despite the
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two historical periods with little or no political evidence.’’ Ladies
and gentlemen, this is exactly what has been done, and I ask you
who will be held accountable for this decision, an action that is in
direct violation of the regulations and can set a precedent for fu-
ture petitions. The people who elect us expect and, in fact, demand
that we, as elected officials, place integrity foremost in our respon-
sibilities to them. They ask that we at all times be honest and clear
with our decisions and open to the public. And, finally, we are re-
quired to be accountable to them, the residents and the taxpayers,
so why is it unusual to expect this of any other government agen-
cy? Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Marconi follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much. You ask some very
important questions that we need answers for.

First Selectman Mullane, thank you.
Mr. MULLANE. Thank you for having me here today. I really ap-

preciate this opportunity. Mr. Shays, I want to thank you, Rob
Simmons. Mr. Ose, I want to thank you. I made a few comments
in front of your hearing 2 years ago, and I appreciate the effort you
are making today to hear a subject that is very important to all of
us.

There is talk about casinos, there is talk about impacts. My first
issue with this subject is in regard to creating a tribe and a sov-
ereign nation and granting land claims. There is nothing more im-
portant and significant to me and my town than that.

I testify also today on behalf of Susan Mendenhall, mayor of
Ledyard, and Bob Congdon, first selectman of Preston.

I am going to try to jump around and not repeat some of the
things that have already been said, and I want to talk about the
tribal recognition that is under appeal, the Historic Pequot Tribe.
And of yesterday there was an appeal filed for the Schaghticoke.

The historic eastern acknowledgment is a combination of peti-
tioners from two groups, both of whom are longstanding rivals of
each other. This is an unprecedented and unwarranted acknowl-
edgment. If I look at the decision, I have to go back to comments
that were made in the Department of the Interior Office of Inspec-
tor General, and this is some comments by Mr. Gover. The rela-
tionship between Gover and the BAR staff was strained from the
beginning. Shortly after being appointed, Gover held a meeting
with the BAR staff in which he said acknowledgment decisions are
political. Our staff considered this an indication of how the Assist-
ant Secretary would rule on findings. BAR and the solicitor who
advises them were convinced that Gover did not like the regulatory
process set forth and, as a result, would base his acknowledgment
decisions on his personal interpretation of the regulations.

When Gover did issue his decisions regarding the Eastern
Pequot, the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot, the Little Shell Chinook,
contrary to the recommendations of BAR, the BAR staff issued a
memoranda of nonconcurrence for each of the four decisions. BAR
had never before documented its disagreement with an Assistant
Secretary.

His additional comments, I will skip those, but what I want to
do is go on and say how do we fix it. True reform must be more
meaningful than streamlining. This committee is considering a se-
ries of measures, some of which have been introduced by members
of the Connecticut delegation to address the shortcomings in the
process. Few doubt the need for reform, but the details of actual
reform remain in doubt. As a result, we offer five principles of re-
form to the acknowledgment process.

First, it is our position that Congress alone has the power to ac-
knowledge tribes. It has never been delegated that power to the ex-
ecutive branch, the BIA, nor has it set standards for the BIA to
apply in carrying out that power. If Congress must decide who
should make these decisions, they have to set rigorous standards,
ones that are strict, that cannot be violated, manipulated, moved,
or changed.
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Second, the acknowledgment process has to be procedures which
have been invented by the BIA do not provide an adequate role for
interested parties, nor do they ensure objective results.

Third, the acknowledgment criteria must be rigorously applied.
Fourth, if Congress is to delegate the power of acknowledgment

to the executive branch, it should not delegate that authority to
BIA. The BIA process has evolved into a result-oriented system, at
the minimum, which is subject to bias inherent by having the same
agency charged with advocating the interest of Indian tribes, also
make acknowledgment decisions. The process is also subject to po-
litical manipulation. An independent commission created for this
purpose would have the same shortcomings unless checks and bal-
ances are imposed to ensure objectivity, fairness, full participation
by all interested parties and the absence of all political manipula-
tion.

Fifth, because of the foregoing problems, it is clear that a mora-
torium is needed to be able to establish a proper process. There
was a bill, S. 1392, which was a good start. There was another one,
1393, which contains some essentials. Still, I believe that there has
to be an ongoing dialog between the towns, the State, the Federal
Government that ultimately result in a fair and objective and, most
important, a credible system.

I want to comment on one aspect, which is the procedure itself.
I frequently hear the complaint, and I heard it today, raised by the
petitioners over how long it takes to achieve a final decision and
how much it costs. My town has spent $545,000 over an 8-year pe-
riod of time. The time and cost of government procedures is a le-
gitimate concern; however, I must note that the time problem is
less than that of the Federal Government and more that of the pe-
titioners themselves. These petitioners groups take years to de-
velop their argument. For example, the Eastern Pequots spent 17
years developing for their case of acknowledgment; the
Schaghticokes took 19. To a large extent, this appears to have been
the result of millions of dollars spent on researchers, attorneys, lob-
bying, media consultants, and so forth, who are searching high and
low for every available means to make a deficient tribal acknowl-
edgment claim and establish the basis for positive results.

With the massive infusion of money and resources from petition-
ers’ side, voluminous records are produced that are almost impos-
sible for other parties to deal with or, for that matter, BIA. The pe-
titioners’ comments are it’s all there, you just don’t understand. Al-
though I am not a defender of BIA and its approach to tribal ac-
knowledgment, we must all recognize that a significant part of the
problem comes from the petitioners. And what is most frustrating
is the supposedly last piece of necessary evidence to complete an
application is submitted in the last petitioner’s comment period,
when no one else can challenge the credibility of that evidence.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Mullane follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much. I know there is a
lot more you can say; you have such a wealth of experience and
knowledge. Thank you.

Mr. Benedict, you are the closer here. Then we will get to ques-
tions, and we will start with Mr. Ose when you are done.

Mr. BENEDICT. Mr. Chairman, thank you. I appreciate the oppor-
tunity to be here today, to be under oath, and to be part of this
panel. I want to say at the outset that I also have submitted writ-
ten testimony, and ask that it be added to the record. And, Mr.
Chairman, I also request the opportunity to submit an addendum
to that, which would be some source notes to go along with it.

Mr. SHAYS. We welcome those.
Mr. BENEDICT. I have asked for some easels. Is it possible to

have those?
Mr. SHAYS. Sure.
Mr. BENEDICT. Thank you.
Let me just say at the outset that I am an author and a lawyer,

and I am the head of the Connecticut Alliance Against Casino Ex-
pansion, which is a nonprofit that was created in Connecticut less
than 2 years ago. To clarify for the record, we have not raised mil-
lions of dollars. I wish we had. We are nowhere near that. It is
public record that we have raised about $250,000 in a little less
than 2 years.

However, there are some people in this room that have raised
millions of dollars, and that is going to be largely the subject of my
testimony today.

I have a statement that I prepared last night to read today,
which I am going to set aside, having made some observations in
the room today that I think may be more pertinent than the re-
marks that I prepared.

Mr. SHAYS. Your statement will be part of the record. And it
makes sense, you have been here, so why don’t you comment on
what you have seen and heard?

Mr. BENEDICT. I appreciate that.
Observation No. 1 is who is not here today, which I think is per-

haps more profound than anything that has been said here today,
which is that, No. 1, there are no investors in tribal recognition
present. Some were invited; they declined. There are many more
that could have been invited and weren’t.

No. 2, there are no lobbyists working on behalf of those petition-
ing for tribal acknowledgment present. I was glad to hear, at the
outset of the hearing today by Chairman Davis, that this is the be-
ginning, and not the end, of this committee’s work, because I think
the groundwork has been laid here today, and really the answers
that ultimately we need to get to are in the hearts, minds, and wal-
lets of those who are not present today.

Observation No. 2 is that there has been little or no mention
today of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act [IGRA]. There has been
a lot of discussion about tribal acknowledgment. IGRA and tribal
acknowledgment are joined at the hip, they are inseparable at this
point, and it is somewhat wasteful to discuss reforming the ac-
knowledgment process without also discussing the need to reform
the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act. And I would like to sort of
move in that direction rather rapidly.
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The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act was passed in 1988, as we all
know. At that time there were two States in the country that had
State-sanctioned casinos, they were Nevada and New Jersey. The
premise of the Indian Gaming Act was twofold: No. 1, it was de-
signed to clarify and set standards for gambling on Indian lands,
simply put; and No. 2 was the premise that tribes that existed in
States that permit gambling should be provided the same oppor-
tunity on their lands if they are in those States. You could assume
from that if you were a tribe that lived in Nevada at that time, you
would be able to have the full gauntlet of gambling offered on your
reservation under IGRA. You could also presume from that, if you
were a tribe in Utah at that time, you would be allowed to do no
gambling, from bingo to lottery to casinos, because none is per-
mitted under State law.

IGRA has become a runaway train. It is the law of unintended
consequences. It arguably is the worst piece of legislation to come
out of this Congress in 20 years because its drafting has been so
vague and created such gaping holes that have been left to the
courts to interpret that we have seen a country go from two States
with legalized casinos in 1988 to a country with 31 States with
over 300 casinos now in operation. California alone, as Mr. Ose
probably well knows, has had over 50 casinos go up since IGRA
was put into law. The State of Connecticut has two casinos that
draw over $3 billion a year. There is no coincidence that California
and Connecticut lead the way in tribal recognition petitions per
capita. Those are the two most lucrative gambling markets in the
United States today; Wall Street says it and the evidence is therein
the outcome of those casinos. And now there are over 50 petitioners
in California and a dozen in Connecticut seeking the right for rec-
ognition, which now carries with it the right to build a casino.

Let me just move to these charts very briefly. I see how much
time is left, and I don’t want to use it up.

These charts point to four names. They are well known, particu-
larly in our State, but nationally. Donald Trump, who we know is
a casino mogul. In court papers he has confirmed that he has in-
vested $9 million in backing the Paucatuck Eastern Pequots. The
Subway Sandwich founder, Fred DeLuca, has admitted publicly
that he has invested $10 million in the Schaghticoke petition. De-
veloper Thomas Wilmot has said he has spent $10 million backing
the Golden Hill Paugussetts; and now a new person, Lyle Berman,
who is the CEO of Lakes Gaming, Inc., a publicly traded company
on Wall Street, has said just in the last couple years he has spent
$4 million.

This is a grand sum of $33 million invested in the tribal recogni-
tion process, just four cases. We have heard evidence today that
there are close to 300 petitions pending, two-thirds of which are
backed or bankrolled by gambling interests. This is not designed to
just say $33 million is a big deal. This is to give you a snapshot
of just four cases in our State.

The chairman asked at the outset what can be done, and let me
close with just a couple of suggestions on reform.

No. 1, and I don’t mean to be glib when I say this, but it is time
for Congress to tell Donald Trump you are fired from the Indian
gaming process.
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Mr. SHAYS. You are a writer, aren’t you?
Mr. BENEDICT. I am a writer.
This guy has been busy in more than Connecticut influencing

this process, and let us recall what he told the U.S. Senate in this
town just a few years ago. He got up and testified and said some-
thing about the Mashantucket Pequots not being true Indians and
operating a very profitable casino. There is one thing he and I
agree on in this world, and that is that the Mashantuckets are not
a legitimate tribe. But the rest of what he has done since then is
adopt an ‘‘if we can’t beat them, join them’’ approach. He pumps
$9 million into the State of Connecticut hoping to get a casino li-
cense that he can’t get any other way. His lawsuit filed in New
London County makes very clear there is a deal struck between
him and the Paucatucks that he would be the developer of this ca-
sino and he would advance, front the money in hopes of getting
that opportunity.

Second, it is, I think, incumbent that we also look at IGRA and
the need to tighten up this legislation. It is time that we look at
what was the original intent of this law. Was it designed to create
a vacuum for guys like Donald Trump and Fred DeLuca and Thom-
as Wilmot to jump into? No. It was designed to create an equal
footing for the existing Indian tribes that were in America in 1988.
What we have seen is a gold rush literally of applicants and of in-
vestors getting behind them.

Third, it is essential that we know more. There are a lot of bright
lights here today, and I will tell you quite seriously I am glad we
are in the light right now. And I mean that very candidly. We need
lobbyists in the light. I would like to know what justifies paying
someone like Ronald Kaufman $600,000-plus to lobby for the
Pequots. I would like to know what Mr. Paul Manafort has been
doing. He has not registered a lobbying report that I am aware of
that shows what he has been doing for the Schaghticokes. It is
time that this committee ask those questions. Why does it take $9
million? And don’t tell me that it takes $9 million to do research.
The State of Connecticut has been doing it on a dime for 10 years.
It doesn’t take $10 million to hire researchers. But it does take $10
million to hire real estate searchers and lawyers and lobbyists, and
those who work influence. And I think we will not have real reform
until those men are brought in here, raise their arm to the square
and under oath ask and answer some very serious questions about
what they have been doing with their money, where it has come
from, and what it has been used for.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Benedict follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00140 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



137

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00141 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



138

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00142 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



139

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00143 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



140

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00144 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



141

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00145 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



142

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00146 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



143

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00147 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



144

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00148 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



145

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00149 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



146

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00150 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



147

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00151 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



148

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00152 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



149

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00153 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



150

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:42 Oct 20, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00154 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\95868.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



151

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you all very much.
And with that, I will recognize Mr. Ose for as much time as he

would like to consume.
Mr. OSE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Marconi, your testimony on page—I don’t remember what

page it is, but you have a couple comments in there. You say the
system is not sound, it is impaired, it lacks integrity.

Mr. MARCONI. Yes.
Mr. OSE. What exactly do you mean?
Mr. MARCONI. The way in which the decision was arrived at, the

fact that despite the fact that the seven criteria were not met, that,
in fact, a rationale was used to substitute for these recognitions.
That is what I mean.

Mr. OSE. And the examples you are citing related to the approv-
als granted at the end of the previous administration or have there
been other examples you are referring to?

Mr. MARCONI. What I am referring to is the internal memo from
the OFA that we received a copy of.

Mr. OSE. Dealing with the recognition process?
Mr. MARCONI. Dealing with the recognition process of the

Schaghticoke Tribal Nation.
Mr. OSE. OK. So STN’s application, is that one of those that was

approved in the waning days of the previous administration?
Mr. MARCONI. Can you repeat that, please, it was approved

when?
Mr. OSE. Is that one of the applications that was approved in the

waning days of the previous administration?
Mr. MARCONI. No.
Mr. OSE. So this is a problem that is not——
Mr. MARCONI. Today.
Mr. OSE [continuing]. Administration-based from past history,

this is something that did exist, it exists now, according to your
testimony.

Mr. MARCONI. That is my testimony.
Mr. OSE. So something that is with us now.
Mr. MARCONI. Yes.
Mr. OSE. All right.
Mr. Benedict, someone whispered in my ear in your testimony

you mentioned these four individuals and the legions of lobbyists,
registered and otherwise, that they use to implement their plans.
Are you a registered lobbyist?

Mr. BENEDICT. I sure am. I am registered under State law in
Connecticut. In our State, that filing is done with the State Ethics
Commission. I am the head of a 501(c)(4). We are authorized to
lobby in our State. And as the only full-time paid employee of the
organization, I am registered. I am also registered here as of just
recently.

Mr. OSE. I would be asking these questions of legions of rep-
resentatives of these people. The name of your 501(c)(4) is?

Mr. BENEDICT. The Connecticut Alliance Against Casino Expan-
sion, Inc.

Mr. OSE. The contributors to the Connecticut Alliance
Against——

Mr. BENEDICT. Casino Expansion.
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Mr. OSE. Gaming Expansion?
Mr. BENEDICT. Casino Expansion.
Mr. OSE. Casino Expansion. The financial contributors to that

are whom?
Mr. BENEDICT. Excuse me?
Mr. OSE. Who are the financial contributors to your 501(c)(4)?
Mr. BENEDICT. Sure. It is fairly easy to distinguish who they are.

No. 1, we are funded by SAICA, the Southeast Area Industry and
Commerce Association, in Stanford, CT. We have received funding
from a large number of citizens of Connecticut, in the hundreds.
Those donations range from $5 to the largest was $10,000. We have
also received a limited number of contributions from chambers of
commerce and some other civic organizations in the State of Con-
necticut, the largest being $10,000.

Mr. OSE. Your annual budget for the 501(c)(4) is what, how
much?

Mr. BENEDICT. The annual budget? We have only been in exist-
ence for 18 months, and we have raised a total of $250,000, give
or take a few, in that 18-month period. Our opening year budget,
we didn’t hit it, not even close, but we were hoping to raise and
utilize roughly $250,000 in that first year. We didn’t raise that
much and we didn’t spend that much because we didn’t have it.

Mr. OSE. This organization you referred to as SOICIA.
Mr. BENEDICT. SAICIA, S-A-I-C-A.
Mr. OSE. S——
Mr. BENEDICT. A-I-C-I-A.
Mr. OSE. Southwest Area——
Mr. BENEDICT. Commerce and Industry Association.
Mr. OSE. Now, that is a Connecticut-based organization?
Mr. BENEDICT. It is.
Mr. OSE. OK. The $250,000 budget over the past 18 months, how

much of that has come from SAICIA?
Mr. BENEDICT. We received an initial installment, a total of my

memory is $60,000, and those were made in monthly increments,
I think 10,000 a month. We have recently received an additional
installment from SAICIA within the last 2 to 3 months, and I think
that total, I would have to check, but I think it was $25,000.

Mr. OSE. I want to compliment you on your willingness to put
that on the record in this environment. We have a serious problem
in getting people to disclose who their financial backers are, and
I can guarantee you, as we pursue this, I am going to be asking
the same questions of the other parties, and it will be interesting
to see, at that time, whether or not they are as forthcoming as you
have just been.

Mr. BENEDICT. Well, thank you. And I will go one step further.
I would be happy to supply this committee with our budget and the
documents that you want about our organization. We would be
happy to provide that.

Mr. OSE. I think, Mr. Chairman, that would be an interesting
standard to lay down on the table for everybody else to comport
with.

So with the chairman’s concurrence, we will accept your offer.
Mr. BENEDICT. Thank you.
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Mr. OSE. Now, you mentioned two names. You mentioned a Ran-
dall Kaufman and a Paul——

Mr. BENEDICT. Manafort.
Mr. OSE. How do you spell that?
Mr. BENEDICT. M-A-N-A-F-O-R-T.
Mr. OSE. Manafort. Is that Charles Manafort? Are Kaufman and

Manafort lobbyists?
Mr. BENEDICT. That is a word you could use, but——
Mr. OSE. Well, what word would you use?
Mr. BENEDICT. Power brokers.
Mr. OSE. Based here in Washington?
Mr. BENEDICT. Based here in Washington.
Mr. OSE. OK. Now, they are power brokers in what sense?
Mr. BENEDICT. Well, I guess in the crudest sense. There are rea-

sons that one individual can attract a fee of $600,000 to monitor
legislation. That is a lot of money to look at what is in the pipeline.
I do that for our organization, and I get paid $75,000 a year, and
have many other things. And I think what is going on here, Rep-
resentative Ose, and let us be clear, this is not new to this adminis-
tration.

Mr. SHAYS. Could the gentleman just suspend a second?
But we are really talking about something more than just legisla-

tion. You are talking about lobbying the administration, in other
words, what do they do for that money.

Mr. BENEDICT. That is right. You know, there has been the spec-
ter raised here today and prior to today that there is influence
being brought to bear to influence the outcome of these decisions,
and I don’t dispute that; I am one of the ones who has been saying
that the most. But I also think in this town there doesn’t always
have to be the overt arm-twisting and influence-peddling to get a
message across, and there are times, and we saw this in the prior
administration, in the Clinton administration.

I wrote an entire book about this, which largely looked at the
Clinton administration and the massive sums of money that were
contributed to the Clinton administration by the Mashantucket
Pequot Tribe, the owners of Foxwoods. There was no evidence that
that tribe or the money that they contributed led to a direct quid
pro quo, yet it was very obvious that the Bureau of Indian Affairs
was churning out decisions on your question: Can a tribe attempt
to attach land to its reservation? And the administration did it
without any reason to do it. And this tribe had given enormous
sums of money to the Clinton administration. There was a tradeoff.

I think when you are giving that much money, when you have
that name, you don’t necessarily need to call somebody up and tell
them what to do; they get the message because the money is big
enough.

Mr. OSE. I want to continue my line of questioning, if I might.
So is it your testimony, without sharing or presenting empirical

evidence, that decisions are being unduly influenced in this process
by virtue of activities of the lobbying corps in this city?

Mr. BENEDICT. My testimony would be, Mr. Ose, that I don’t see
how lobbyists like that could not have an influence in the process.
Do we have direct evidence that they have made improper con-
tacts? No. But I think that is one of the biggest problems here, is
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we need to ask what are you doing as a lobbyist. Or in Mr.
Manafort’s case, where he doesn’t claim to be a lobbyist, well, why
was he retained? What is it that he is doing specifically for the
money he is being paid.

Mr. OSE. Refresh my memory. Who is it that retained Mr. Kauf-
man?

Mr. BENEDICT. Mr. Kaufman works for, well it is not called the
Historic Pequot Tribe, but initially the Eastern Pequot Tribe,
which is a faction that Mr. Coke and Mr. Rossau are the backers
of.

Mr. OSE. Is that the——
Mr. SHAYS. Would the gentleman mind suspending one more

time?
Mr. OSE. Certainly.
Mr. SHAYS. What I would like, Ms. Flowers, I am not going to

have you come up here and have a debate. I think that is very un-
fair. But when this panel is done, I would like to just ask you, and
so I thought I would give you time to think about it, what does Mr.
Kaufman do for the $500,000 to $600,000 that you feel what is his
deliverable. And that would be helpful to put on the record, I think.
So if you would just think about that.

I thank the gentleman.
Mr. OSE. As usual, the chairman is way ahead of me; he jumps

right to my own question.
Mr. SHAYS. I am sorry.
Mr. OSE. I am going to have to yield back to the chairman until

I construct my next series of questions.
Mr. SHAYS. Well, I would be happy to take the floor, but your

line of questioning is very important, and it was a question that
we were going to ask Chairman Flowers, but I thought we should
get to this panel. And so I would like that on the record, because
it is an important thing.

You basically have Mr. Manafort and you have Mr. Kaufman,
and they are both very powerful political operatives. I know Mr.
Kaufman well, and I like him a lot, but he is doing his job; I am
going to do my job. So we need to get that on the record.

I will say that I am a card-carrying member, I think, of your or-
ganization. I think you got $50 from me.

Mr. BENEDICT. You did.
Mr. SHAYS. It may have been more if I was trying to impress you.
Mr. BENEDICT. It was $50.
Mr. SHAYS. It was only $50.
Mr. BENEDICT. It was $50.
Mr. SHAYS. Well, I am a card-carrying member, and it is one of

the best investments I have made.
Mr. BENEDICT. I photocopied your check, Chris.
Mr. SHAYS. At any rate, one of the things I have no problem ac-

cepting is if you are a petitioning State tribe, whatever, seeking to
be a Federal tribe, you need to document some pretty significant
stuff, so you are going to want financial help there. I have no chal-
lenge at all give me a good financial backer and help me document
that we did have continuity and that we do meet all the seven
tests. Help me fund the people that can do that. Where I have a
big disconnect is why you spend hundreds of thousands of dollars
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for someone who is not doing that, but just trying to influence the
decision.

Would you all agree that you could understand a tribe would
want to do that, or would you even take issue with that?

Mayor BOUGHTON. Well, you know, obviously, coming from the
legislature and serving in all different types of government, that is
fairly common, where you would have somebody to represent your
interests, whether it was the oil interests, whether it was commer-
cial interests.

Mr. SHAYS. I am not talking about representing your interests.
I am asking about do you agree or disagree that tribes will want
to have financial backers who will want to help them document,
the historians that they have to hire, all of that. It seems to me
that we would be pretty hypocritical to say prove that you are a
tribe, but then not give them the resource or allow them to have
the resource to prove they are a tribe. Isn’t the dispute here not
whether they should have a right to prove they are a tribe, but
what they do to influence the decision? And there are good things
they should do and there are bad things. I mean, comment and let
us go right down the line.

Mayor BOUGHTON. Well, getting back to my original point, I don’t
have a problem with a financial backer helping a tribe access infor-
mation to help prove their validity. I think that is fine. And I don’t
have a problem with a tribe engaging in a lobbyist to represent
their interests, be it here or in the legislature. I think that is fine
as well. Where it crosses the line is when you have somebody who
doesn’t report the kind of activities they engage in, who is not cov-
ered by any of the State ethic laws or by the Federal ethics laws,
and just sort of out there in that twilight zone doing the little
things that they do to manipulate the situation to get the outcome
they want. That bothers me. And in this case, with Mr. Manafort,
that is extremely troubling in the case of the Schaghticoke Tribe.

And so if you want to hire somebody to do the research, if you
want to get a financial backer to do the research, perfectly accept-
able. You want to hire a lobbyist to represent your interests here?
Perfectly acceptable. Do you want to take that next leap to be able
to engage somebody who knows somebody to get the outcome that
you want? Then it is completely unacceptable. And I think that is
really the distinction you are trying to draw.

Mr. SHAYS. I think you need to take a look at the chart again,
and I concur entirely with Mr. Benedict’s testimony. When you look
at the amount of money, $9 million, $10 million, $10 million, $4,
$33 million in total, it doesn’t cost that much to do the research,
as he stated. We have been doing it, the State of Connecticut, At-
torney General Blumenthal has been working on that with a much,
much smaller budget. The fact is the money is going somewhere,
and as Mr. Ose has said, maybe we should set a standard with this
committee and ask everyone who comes before you to divulge
where have these millions of dollars gone.

Mr. MULLANE. Let us go back——
Mr. SHAYS. Let me just say to you, in triggering that, we will

write a letter to all of these parties and ask for a complete break-
down, whether or not they testify before the committee or not. We
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are not just going to do the one that had the willingness to come
forward, we will ask all of them. It is a very important point.

Mr. MULLANE. Let us go back to the basics. If the tribe has main-
tained community, political continuity, and have their genealogical
records, I am at a loss as to why it would be that difficult. OK?
So I do not also deny that somebody needs help. The problem has
been that BIA is a lobbyist for the group. Their scenario or routine
is to deny them on the preliminary determination, lay out a road
map for what they have to achieve, and then help them get there
and, if they have to, fabricate it along the way. But we also have
to understand that we do need professional people to package, to
put it in some sequence, in some order. That is one of the problems.
BIA has seven criteria but doesn’t tell you how you have to re-
spond. They could very easily set standards that say provide your
genealogical in this format, provide your tribal community in this
manner, provide this political continuity and who has been your
leader.

So, yes, professional help is needed; yes, you have to package it;
but let us take a look at the problems that have happened with the
change of rules and how people have revised, altered, or BIA has
facilitated and broke their own rules. So they need help, but there
should be standards, and the standards should be easily under-
standable and the data should be readily available for everybody.

Mr. SHAYS. I was thinking, as you were talking, how much you
know about this issue. When you grew up as a kid, little did you
know that you would know so much about tribal recognition.

Mr. BENEDICT. Mr. Chairman, I think to simplify what could be
done on a reform basis, I think there is no place in this process for
lobbyists, period. Very simply, this is a situation where you have
an agency with a fiduciary responsibility to Indian tribes that has
also been entrusted with the massive responsibility of determining
tribal status for groups that have applied to the Bureau. They are
not making legislation. They are not deciding policy. They are de-
ciding whether these applicants have the merits to deserve sov-
ereign status. There is no role in that process for a lobbyist, none.
It just simply shouldn’t be there.

And then you say, well, then what do you do, you tell someone
like the Eastern Pequots, who are here today, who say their lobby-
ist is just employed to review pending legislation that might impact
us. Are you telling us they can’t have a lobbyist at all? I think that
is what takes us back to IGRA, and that is why IGRA becomes so
important. If we merely try to fix the acknowledgment process
without addressing IGRA, we are not going to get there. IGRA is
the twin to acknowledgment, and it is IGRA that has opened this
door for us. It is Pandora’s box that makes acknowledgment.
Whether any of us want to admit it or not, acknowledgment has
become contaminated by gambling, and that is why I think, under
IGRA, there is room to get the lobbyists out of this process and the
financiers, and the way to do that is to reclarify what IGRA origi-
nally was intended to be: a law that applied to tribes that existed
when it was passed in 1988. It has now become a law of exploi-
tation by guys like Donald Trump and the lobbyists who work for
them.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
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Let me just say that Mr. Ose is going to be chairing a committee
hearing in this room starting sometime around 2 p.m.

Do you want the floor back with this panel before?
Mr. OSE. Mr. Chairman, given your courtesy so far, I think I will

submit my questions for the record.
Mr. SHAYS. OK.
I would conclude with this panel by saying it is pretty clear,

based on panel one and panel two and panel three, that we have
some very clear recommendations from all of you: transparency, the
whole issue of conflict of interest. The one area that I am not as
clear about, I don’t want to spend a lot of time, but I gather you
accept the fact that if you are able to prove that you are an Indian
tribe and you meet all the standards, then you get what Indian
tribes get, sovereignty and everything else that comes with it. It
then strikes me that you are also saying if that happened, you
want the communities to have some say in what happens then. Is
that correct? I am seeing some nodding of heads.

Mayor BOUGHTON. Absolutely. I think that is really the fun-
damental problem that we are wrestling with here. You know, we
don’t deny the rights of Native Americans to seek recognition if
they so deserve. I will add an addendum to that, that in Connecti-
cut, as Jeff has mentioned, we have reservations about these orga-
nizations that are calling themselves tribes to begin with, in the
sense of where exactly, how they are cobbling their heritage to-
gether to make a tribe, or that the BIA is doing it for them. And
that is really the challenge that we have locally.

Mr. SHAYS. Is there anything that any of you want to put on the
record before we just ask Chairman Flowers to just talk about?

Yes, Mr. Mullane.
Mr. MULLANE. I would like to answer that question also. And I

a little older than I look. Graduated from high school, went in the
Navy, worked for Defense Department for 37 years, been a select-
man for 19 years. And there are two things that have always been
bread into me: one nation under God and all men are created
equal. Yes, there is an issue with the Native Americans, and I am
not going to answer that question. But I want you to look at where
we are today, what has happened in the last 12 years since the
Gaming Act was passed, and where we are going and how you can
envision resolving the problems that are being spread across the
United States; not just Connecticut, throughout the United States,
and how business is starting to have conflict. The latest one I saw
was an Indian group filed to be classified as an offshore bank. They
are already in telecommunications, they are in banking. So we
have to look at where we are going, and I beg you to have followup
on this and that we have some results. If you must have a process,
there must be reforms, it must be given to an independent agency,
and you cannot streamline it and fix it.

Mr. SHAYS. OK.
Mr. MULLANE. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. I am getting a little nervous staff here who are trying

to get us to move here. What I am going to do is ask Ms. Flowers
to submit in writing sometime by next week what your lobbyist
does for the money he gets, how much he gets and what your lob-
byist does. We are going to be sending a letter to the other organi-
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zations as well to do that. And we will make that available to the
press.

Would you be able to get that to us by Wednesday of next week?
Do you want to do it now? If you want to do it now, we will do it
now, or you can do it in writing. OK, come on up, love.

Thank you all. Excuse me. Have you all put on the record every-
thing you want to put on the record?

Mr. BENEDICT. I just wanted to say thank you to this committee
for starting this. I appreciate the opportunity to be here.

Mr. SHAYS. Good. Thank you both very much, all of you.
Mr. MULLANE. I also want to thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. You have been a wonderful panel and you have

added a lot to the work of this committee.
Thank you. We are going to be pretty quick on this, but I appre-

ciate your wanting to do it now. That is great.
First on Ronald Kaufman.
Ms. FLOWERS. On Ron Kaufman, I had stated the tribe pays

$120,000 per year, but anything beyond what you need, what he
does for the tribe, we could submit that.

Mr. SHAYS. Well, he submitted information, I thought that he
made over——

Ms. FLOWERS. I believe he is registered lobbyist. But we will
send, to satisfy the committee, we will send that in.

Mr. SHAYS. Unfortunately, you have come in front of us now, so
I can’t be as casual as we are being here. I want to know specifi-
cally how much the tribe has paid him.

Ms. FLOWERS. We pay him $120,000 a year since 5 years.
Mr. SHAYS. OK, so it is over 5 years.
Ms. FLOWERS. Yes, 5 years.
Mr. SHAYS. So he has received about $600,000 plus over a 5-year

period.
Ms. FLOWERS. Yes.
Mr. SHAYS. OK. And what does he do for that?
Ms. FLOWERS. Monitors legislation down here in Washington;

monitors to make sure there are no riders on any appropriation
bills that could hurt the tribe; he advises the tribe on any kind of
political activity that we may not understand or not see; he ar-
ranges, usually once a year, for us to come down and hopefully get
to visit the Connecticut delegation.

Mr. SHAYS. Does he also provide entre into the administration?
Ms. FLOWERS. Never.
Mr. SHAYS. I want to be real clear, because you are under oath.
Ms. FLOWERS. Never.
Mr. SHAYS. Listen to the question first.
Ms. FLOWERS. OK.
Mr. SHAYS. I want to make sure that you are comfortable with

your answer. You are saying that Ron Kaufman—and I know him
pretty well, and he knows how to make entre. You are saying that
he has never provided an entre, not just for you, but for your tribe.
So you are saying that he has never contacted the White House,
never contacted the Bureau of Indian Affairs, never done those
things?

Ms. FLOWERS. Not to my knowledge. He has never been directed
to do that under our tribe.
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Mr. SHAYS. That is not what my question is. That is not what
I am asking, though. We are going to be a little—I don’t want to
blind-side you here because I just know him too well. To suggest
that he has never contacted the administration would be almost an
impossibility for me to accept, and I want to protect you from that
question.

Ms. FLOWERS. I have never directed anyone, never.
Mr. SHAYS. We will leave it at that.
Mr. OSE. Mr. Chairman, if I might.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes.
Mr. OSE. Have any of Mr. Kaufman’s colleagues contacted the

BIA on your behalf?
Ms. FLOWERS. Not to my knowledge. Never been directed by our

tribe.
Mr. OSE. Thank you.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. How many tribal members are there?
Ms. FLOWERS. We have, not including those that have died with-

in the last 2 years, 1,131. Almost half of those are children.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Are they scattered? They are not all in

Connecticut, they are scattered all over?
Ms. FLOWERS. For the most part in Connecticut. And we had to

document that in the petition by 10-year increments, location of
where members are.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Let me just say I appreciate your appear-
ing here today voluntarily, and being able to sit here and answer
questions. The committee appreciates that very much.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, are we all
set?

We are all set. Is there anything else you want to put on the
record?

Ms. FLOWERS. My vice chair pointed out Ron Kaufman also helps
us write position papers and those kind of things that we are not
used to doing.

Mr. SEBASTIAN. And also review press releases and positions
also. Mr. Chairman, may I just add one more comment?

Mr. SHAYS. Yes. And I would say that what I had always as-
sumed was that he had made $500,000 or $600,000 in a 1-year pe-
riod, and you are saying it has been over a 5-year period.

Ms. FLOWERS. It has been over 5 years.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes, sir.
Mr. SEBASTIAN. We just want to make a brief comment in regard

to the rotating door, and it is twofold. It is a double-edged sword
because, as you know, it is alleged that the town of North
Stonington and their attorneys had hired Kay Davis, who directly
reviewed our petition, and Mr. Larson, the anthropologist, who di-
rectly worked for the Paucatuck, former Paucatuck Eastern Pequot
Tribe. So that rotating door is a double-edged sword, not just for
tribes, but for towns.

Mr. SHAYS. Would you agree that a rotating door, whichever di-
rection it goes, is wrong? I am sorry, nodding of a head doesn’t do
it. Would you agree, Mr. Sebastian?

Mr. SEBASTIAN. Yes, absolutely.
Mr. SHAYS. Folks, I am sorry.
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Madam Chairwoman, thank you very much. Thank you, Vice
Chair. I appreciate your taking the dais.

With that, we are going to adjourn this hearing.
[Whereupon, at 1:50 p.m., the committee was adjourned, to re-

convene at the call of the Chair.]
[Additional information submitted for the hearing record follows:]
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